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Thursday, September 1, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Today is the fourteenth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  This morning we will continue with the examination of the panels on O&M costs.  Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I have two preliminary matters.  The first is the issue that Mr. Thompson and I alluded to yesterday surrounding IGUA Interrogatory No. 6.  Mr. Thompson and Mr. Cass propose, with the Panel's permission, to address that issue after the lunch break today.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  Thank you.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  The second thing, Madam Chair, is that Mr. Shepherd has requested that a couple of documents be filed as exhibits in this matter, and the company has no objection to that and is prepared to stipulate as to the authenticity of the two documents.


So with your permission, I will just describe what the two are.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.


MR. STEVENS:  The first is entitled "Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. 2004 Annual Review and Financial Statements".


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we give them an exhibit number for that?


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that Exhibit No. K14.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K14.1:  ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. 2004 ANNUAL REVIEW AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And the second is titled "Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. Annual Information Form", and it's dated March 8, 2005.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that exhibit number K14.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K14.2:  ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM DATED MARCH 8, 2005

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, these documents are public filings of Enbridge that were filed respectively -- the content were filed in February and March, and I believe my friend is stipulating to the fact that they are Enbridge documents.  Could he clarify that for me, please?


MR. STEVENS:  Yes, that's correct, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  No further preliminary matters?


Let me just confirm the schedule for this morning in cross‑examining this panel.  I believe it was Mr. Dingwall and Mr. Adams who wished to cross-examine this panel.  I see, Mr. Shepherd, you're here, but you will not be cross‑examining this panel; is that correct?  All right.  


And we're going to go with Mr. Dingwall first; is that correct?


MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 9; RESUMED:

Jane Haberbusch; Previously Sworn


Liz Stokes‑Bajcar; Previously Sworn


Tom Ladanyi; Previously Sworn


Annette Urquhart; Previously Sworn


Debbie Kelly; Previously Sworn


Kevin Culbert; Previously Sworn

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I'm here in the capacity as counsel to Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters for this cross‑examination.


Mr. Culbert, in a brief discussion that we had off the record, which was extremely helpful, you clarified for me that non‑utility eliminations traditionally are where ABC fees are reflected, for example, but have also, in the past, reflected payments that were rejected as being acceptable for rate-making purposes; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  In past years, any non‑utility elimination amounts determined by the Board have been excluded, in terms of expense recovery, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me an example of that?


MR. CULBERT:  An example would be our 2004 financials where the Board disallowed recovery of customer care costs of $7.1 million in the financials, or the D exhibits you would see for historical results in this filing.  You see an elimination of that $7.1 million of expense from our calculations.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, with respect to ABC fees, I take it that if there were any adjustment to the ABC service, such as the inclusion of new services within that realm, that the non‑utility eliminations would then reflect the additional fees that might be generated by that; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure I could answer to the fees themselves, but any amount of work that utility employees were spending in the ABC service program that had been identified, if there was an increase in the amount of work that those employees were performing with respect to that service, and the costs had increased, yes, they would be eliminated from my calculations.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  

Mr. Ladanyi, you made some mention yesterday, I believe in your examination-in‑chief, that with respect to risk management there were some matters coming up that you didn't wish specifically to comment on, but which might involve the settlement of claims; is that correct?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I had understood that Enbridge Gas Distribution has a substantial insurance portfolio.  Would these amounts of settlement generally involve amounts that would be under deductibles, or what would that be for?


MR. STEVENS:  Madam Chair, I hesitate to jump in.  I'm just a little concerned that we're talking about ongoing litigation, and I am concerned about compromising the company's position or giving out information that might otherwise be privileged if we're talking about what settlements might or might not happen in large cases that are pending that the company is involved with. 


I'm not trying to be unhelpful, but I am just concerned that some of the information to be given may be information that ought not to be public.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, do you have any comments?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, I'm trying to avoid the specifics that might lead to Mr. Stevens' discussions.  What I am concerned about is whether or not, in the test year, the company has sufficient insurance to cover the risks, and, really, what that comes down to is probably a number of questions establishing what insurance the company has, whether there are deductibles on those policies, and then maybe a general question getting into how that ‑‑ if there aren't deductibles, are there non‑legal fee elements of the matters that they're dealing with.


I think if we go through that level of generality, we're going to avoid specific comments.  I don't know what Mr. Stevens' thoughts would be


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stevens, are you concerned are that?


MR. STEVENS:  If the discussion is revolving around the company's insurance policies, the deductibles and the terms, then that is quite appropriate.  I'm not sure whether Mr. Ladanyi is the appropriate person to be able to answer those questions, but we certainly have no principle objection to the questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine, thank you.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Ladanyi, do you know whether or not the insurance policies that the company has contain deductible amounts?


MR. LADANYI:  I am not an expert in insurance.  I can undertake to provide that information for you, but I don't have an answer right now.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I will take that undertaking, then.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J14.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.1:  ASCERTAIN WHETHER COMPANY INSURANCE POLICIES CONTAIN DEDUCTIBLE AMOUNTS

MR. STEVENS:  If I may just clarify, Madam Chair, are there specific insurance policies that may be of interest, because I imagine that the company has a huge range of different insurance policies.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, are you looking for specific insurance policies?


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm looking more for general accident‑type policies.  I don't think we're ‑‑ I certainly hope we're not looking at any matters that might involve D&O.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I didn't hear that last word.


MR. DINGWALL:  I would certainly expect we're not dealing with any matters that might involve directors and officers.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that helpful?


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, that's helpful.


MR. DINGWALL:  Then also in that response, if there are deductibles, I'm curious about what the deductible level is.  And Mr. Stevens can maybe get back to me as to whether or not they think the deductible is confidential.  If that's the case, then we can treat it as ‑‑ or figure out a way to treat it as such.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that acceptable, Mr. Stevens?


MR. STEVENS:  It is.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MR. DINGWALL:  In general, Mr. Ladanyi, would you discuss ‑‑ or would you suggest that the budget in respect of risk management has built contingencies into it?


MR. LADANYI:  Are you speaking in general terms?


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm speaking, yes, in general terms.


MR. LADANYI:  I think the word "contingencies" is sort of an odd term to start with.  I'm trying to understand exactly what you mean.  We have a forecast of what we expect our costs to be in 2006 and that's based on past experience and our information about the nature of the insurance premiums on a going-forward basis.


I'm not entirely clear what you meant by the word "contingency", however.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, what we have I guess seen over the past couple of years is situations where there are day‑to‑day risks of running a utility company and certainly costs associated with addressing that.  I presume that that is probably where you have an area of forecast available to you and some degree of certainty, given your experience with the history of the business.


What we've also seen, though, and, again, which I'm not going to ask you specifically to comment on, is situations where larger pieces of litigation such as the class action with respect to late payment fees, has a certain greater unknown element to it, in which case you've sought the protection -- or, rather, you've sought to capture the uncertainty through deferral accounts in respect of the costs associated with that.


Are what you're forecasting, dealing with in the test year, elements for which, with the experience and history of the company, you have some certainty that the actuals would likely be very close to the forecast?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, perhaps maybe we could clarify this discussion.  Maybe I can take you to Consumers Coalition of Canada Interrogatory No. 31, which gives a more detailed breakdown of the risk management costs.


If you could turn that up, that is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 31.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Mr. Ladanyi, could I ask ‑‑


MR. LADANYI:  I know, because I haven't finished my answer yet.  I'm just going through with it now.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm sorry, sir, go ahead.


MR. LADANYI:  If you look at that interrogatory response, you will see that claims, damages and legal fees are broken down into three components.  Claims are $650,000, the forecast we're talking about, and legal fees are $1,190,000, and investigative fees are $83,000 within that category.  


Now, for example, for claim settlements, our 2004 actual is $490,000.  Our estimate of claims right now for 2005 is roughly $750,000, $710,000, somewhere in that range.


So the actual number that we have here in the budget is a little bit below what we expect to have in 2005.  So we think that the amount here for claim settlement is reasonable, but, of course, we don't know what events will happen in 2006.  So this is -- again, this budget is based on our experience.  


Legal fees, if you look at legal fees, again, they're based on what we have been spending so far and what we expect to be spending in 2006 for legal fees to deal with risk issues.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Can I ask you to turn up A1, tab 7, schedule 1, page 23, please?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Can you give that reference again, please, Mr. Dingwall?


MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly, Madam.  Exhibit A 1, tab 7, schedule 1, page 23.  Now --


MR. LADANYI:  Just give us a minute.  We're in schedule 2.


MR. DINGWALL:  This is the warm-up round, Mr. Ladanyi.  I'm expecting better performance as we go on.


MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  We have it there.


MR. DINGWALL:  At the bottom of that page, there is reference to something called the "Bloor Street incident", and I'm sure Mr. Stevens will be on his toes to raise any concerns he might have about this question, so why don't you give him that chance before answering?


Does the budget for 2006 anticipate the Bloor Street incident's resolution in some fashion in January of 2006?


MR. STEVENS:  I can't speak to the answer to that.  I'm not sure that we would be prepared to talk about any resolution that's anticipated.  But I wonder, Madam Chair, whether the question is better directed at Mr. Boyce, who is on a panel later on today.  Mr. Boyce is the associate general counsel with the company and oversees all of the company's legal proceedings, and he may be better placed to answer this question than Mr. Ladanyi.


MR. DINGWALL:  I will accept that answer.  Thank you.


Just to keep you on your toes, Mr. Ladanyi, I would like to talk about Sarbanes‑Oxley costs for a minute.  As I understand it, in looking at one of the School Energy Coalition IR responses, these costs have occurred over the past few years; is that correct?


MR. LADANYI:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  And are they tracked within the heading of "audit costs"?


MR. LADANYI:  Not specifically.


MR. DINGWALL:  Under what ‑‑


MR. LADANYI:  A lot of them involve audit costs.


MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me an indication of where else those costs would stem from?


MR. LADANYI:  If I could take you to Consumers Coalition of Canada Interrogatory No. 29, and we have a complete break-down of all of the impacts of the Sarbanes‑Oxley work, so it is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 29.  


You will see there, if you turn that up, Mr. Dingwall, that there is a component that is related to audit work, and there is also other components that are involved.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, with respect to time going forward, is it anticipated that Enbridge Gas Distribution will have completed its own internal changes necessary to be able to manage the strictures of Sarbanes‑Oxley compliance in the future at some point?  Will this be complete after the test year?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, the way Sarbanes‑Oxley works, there is an initial effort that's required to produce the initial documentation, to have all the procedures in place and to test them, but then there is an ongoing requirement to maintain these and to produce annual reports.


So the work will continue, but at a certain ‑‑ slightly lower level than we have experienced over the last few years.  You can actually see that.  It came up yesterday in discussions, whereby our external auditor costs, which are in our non‑departmental O&M expenses budget, are going down, because the amount of the work that the external auditors would do related to Sarbanes‑Oxley will reduce, but the amount of work that our own staff are going to do will continue at a fairly high level.  


And I think that is also, again, reflected in these interrogatories.


MR. DINGWALL:  I believe EGD began accumulating Sarbanes‑Oxley costs in 2003; is that correct?


MR. LADANYI:  I will have to take that subject to check.  I have no material with me to speak to 2003 numbers.


MR. DINGWALL:  I think -- I'm trying to remember the number.  Was it School Energy 34 yesterday?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, School Energy 34, which I have in front of me, is showing actually incremental costs from 2003 to 2004.   That's shown in the last column.  So I would presume there is costs in 2003, and I can offer to provide these numbers for you in an undertaking, if you'd like.  That would have been filed with our last year's case, which I don't have here with me.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm more concerned with just understanding what ‑‑ when the time period began.  You're telling me that you began working on Sarbanes‑Oxley‑type compliance in 2003?


MR. LADANYI:  I would say that's correct, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And as part of that, there are some re-structurings that companies need to undertake.  I think one of the requirements is that there have to be a certain number of independent directors on a board's audit committee.


EGD has its own board of directors, does it not?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it does.


MR. DINGWALL:  And do you know at what point over the past several years EGD had implemented the independent director requirement on the audit committee?


MR. LADANYI:  Not a specific point in time.  I do recall, though, when we were here on day 6 of the hearing with the policy panel, that one of the intervenors took up the matter of the independence of the board of directors with Mr. Schultz, and Mr. Schultz dealt with that at that time.  I don't have the specific reference here, but if you would like to know the specific date, we can find it for you.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, would it be fair to say ‑‑ and I don't want to clutter the record with countless undertakings.  Would it be fair to say that at one point in time EGD was compliant with the requirements of Sarbanes‑Oxley and had set up processes and procedures to meet those specific operational requirements?


MR. LADANYI:  I actually don't understand your question.  Could you rephrase your question?


MR. DINGWALL:  Let's start with the 2004 year, which has just been completed, and, as I understand it from Mr. Shepherd's earlier statement, the annual report was filed on August 25th of this year.


Is that report compliant with the spirit, since of course Sarbanes‑Oxley isn't Canadian law ‑‑ with the spirit of Sarbanes‑Oxley?


MR. LADANYI:  I believe that it is.  There are certain dates that are involved in meeting Sarbanes‑Oxley requirements.


 MR. DINGWALL:  For the previous year, 2003, would you say that EGD was compliant with the spirit of Sarbanes‑Oxley?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, these are very nebulous questions for me to answer.  I would say, yes, we were compliant with the spirit of Sarbanes‑Oxley, but whether we had all the documentation in place, I can't tell you.  I don't know.  I mean, Sarbanes‑Oxley is a fairly complex process.  It involves testing of control procedures, involves attestations at different levels of management to the control processes.  So it's -‑ I would say, in practice, we probably were doing many of the things that Sarbanes‑Oxley required, but we actually didn't have it documented.


We did not, you know, have all the test procedures in place that Sarbanes-Oxley required.  So, I mean, if you're suggesting that we were doing something wrong before, I would say, no, we were not doing anything wrong before.  But what we didn't have is we didn't have all of the procedures and processes documented and in such a form that we would meet these requirements.


MR. DINGWALL:  So is that process, then, anticipated to be completed in the test year?


MR. LADANYI:  As I explained, the documentation is expected to be completed, correct, but there are still the annual reporting requirements, the annual testing of the financial results to see that there is proper controls in place each and every year.  It is not like you test them one year and you never do it again.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I noticed that audit fees appear in non‑departmental expenses.  It seems sort of counter-intuitive that they wouldn't be in the finance budget.


MR. LADANYI:  The audit fees ‑‑ our auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers, and they are hired through our head office in Calgary.  And -- however, the auditors who performed the work are located from the PWC office in Toronto.  The invoicing is done through the Calgary office, but it is a direct charge in the corporate cost allocation and it goes to the non‑departmental budget.


I suppose you could argue that it should be finance.  I mean, that is a point of view, but certainly the bottom line is it has to be somewhere in the Enbridge Gas Distribution numbers, and for us it made some sense to keep it in non‑departmental.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  I'm going to move down the road a bit, Ms. Haberbusch.


Now, Enbridge Gas Distribution, as we're all quite well aware at this point in time, is an affiliate of Enbridge Inc., and there are numerous other affiliates of Enbridge Inc.?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  I think you were talking about a HR score card the other day that would -- that is used to measure employee performance.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  There is a HR scorecard used to measure the performance of human resource function, not to mention employees' performance.


There are a number of score cards that employees are aligned to, within their respective departments, that would measure the performance of those departments and their performance against that.  


 MR. DINGWALL:  In the days long, long ago when I actually used to do in‑house counsel gigs, I remember seeing in employment contracts there would usually be an attachment of some sort which would have a list of criteria which you would have to meet in order to gain some form of bonus.  


I take it that Enbridge Gas Distribution employees have something like that?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, they do.


MR. DINGWALL:  Are any of the criteria related to overall corporate performance of EI's affiliates and parent?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  There is a small element in the calculation of the overall amount of bonus funds available for distribution, based on the Enbridge Inc. results, which would be an amalgamation of all of the affiliates' results, including EGD.


MR. DINGWALL:  What percentage of bonus does that represent?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Twenty percent, and 80 percent is related to the performance of the utility.


MR. DINGWALL:  So of that 20 percent, what would be the annual cost of that, in aggregate, for 2006?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I haven't done the math, but it would be 20 persons of the ICP amount for 2006.  That overall amount is 9. ‑‑ 9,450,000.  So it would be 20 percent of that.


MR. DINGWALL:  Twenty percent of $9,450,000?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, bonuses are usually determined after a time period takes place?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.  After the year's performance, those bonuses are calculated.


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that the Enbridge Inc. portion of the bonus budget is something that is part of the utility revenue requirement, the forecast part; is that correct?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm not sure I understand your question.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, after the time period has elapsed ‑‑


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Right.


MR. DINGWALL:  -- that's when Enbridge Inc. would say, Here is what the bonus amount is?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Based on their year-end results, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Based on their year-end results.  Now, let's pass that on to the folks in our subsidiaries.


I take it that rather than Enbridge Inc. making a payment to Enbridge Gas Distribution for that bonus, that this actually comes out of the HR budget; is that correct?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  It's a utility cost, because it's part of the cost to compensate our employees.


MR. DINGWALL:  Do any of the other affiliates have unionized employees?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Which ones would those be?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  The liquid south group in the US has unionized employees.  Our pipeline group has JIC members, which is not exactly the same as a union, but is an organized representative group.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, the pipeline is based, sort of, all over North America, as I understand it?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Primarily Edmonton and Calgary.


MR. DINGWALL:  Primarily Edmonton and Calgary.  Are there any crossed or shared bargaining units in any of the affiliates?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  No, there's not.


MR. DINGWALL:  And I take it that you're not even dealing with the same unions?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Not in all cases, no.


MR. DINGWALL:  Are there any cases where you are dealing with the same unions?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Elsewhere in Enbridge, yes, not within Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. DINGWALL:  Oh, okay.  So it's other Enbridge companies that are dealing with the same unions, not EGD?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, with respect to benefits, I take it that Enbridge Gas Distribution's benefits policy has developed over the years in order to meet the needs of its Ontario-specific operations; is that correct?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think benefits have evolved, in general, from an industry perspective.  There is an Ontario‑based component, in that where we set our benefit levels, in terms of what we're willing to pay according to the market, is tied to our Ontario comparators.


So Enbridge sets a pay philosophy, which means, where do we establish our total compensation levels relative to the markets in which we operate?


So that pay philosophy is we establish that at the 50th percentile of the market.  For Ontario, that would be the 50th percentile of our Ontario-based market.  In Calgary, that would be 50th percentile of the Calgary-based market.  That would include benefit, as well as pay and other elements of total comp.

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm assuming you're speaking of EGD employees; is that correct?

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Right.  Do you know how other Enbridge Inc. affiliates establish their benefit policies? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  The benefit policies, in terms of the programs themselves, are established enterprise‑wide.  So that would be Enbridge Inc. managing that process with input from all of the affiliates, in terms of those design elements.  But it's basically a similar design.  The levels of prices and credits involved, relative to ‑‑ position it relative to the markets in which they operate might vary.  But the design of the program is similar.  It's primarily a flexible benefit plan that allows each employee to elect the level of coverage and the type of coverage that best suits their need. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is it done all through a common carrier? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, it is.  There are several carriers involved but they're Enbridge‑wide carriers.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Enbridge‑wide meaning ... 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Meaning the enterprise.  So those contracts would be negotiated through head office in Calgary.  And we would receive, in fact an allocated portion of the costs to do that as part of the total compensation service. 

     MS. STOKES-BAJCAR:  If I could clarify.  For the gas distribution operation for life plans, because it is more cost effective we do have one difference with respect to a carrier for life plans, because it's much more cost efficient for us. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, do the benefit levels vary with the salaries of the individuals?

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  There is one ‑‑ 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Sorry. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  There is one element of calculation of flex credits which is what is utilized by employees to select which benefits they would like to utilize.  This there is one element of that tied to salaries, so that would have some impact.  However the other components are based on whether there's family, single or couple coverage, which is flat across the organization, wouldn't be dependent on salary. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Do you know how the benefit costs are allocated among the affiliates? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Benefit costs are incurred within the individual affiliates, the actual costs.  What gets negotiated ‑‑ well, there are basically two kinds of programs within benefits. 

     On the dental and medical side, it's a ASO plan which means administrative services only which what is negotiated with the carrier is an administrative rate to process the claims that fall out from any of the affiliates.

      But the affiliates themselves pay the cost of whatever those claims happen to be.  And those are going to vary based on how many claims and the types of claims that are put forward.  But those costs are incurred within the affiliate themselves. 

      The second type of coverage which is our insured programs, things like life insurance, et cetera, are based on a annual rate that the carrier puts forward for each of the affiliates and they can be different, depending on the experience of the affiliate in the previous years, depending on the demographics that that particular affiliate has.  And those costs are also within the affiliate's costs. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So then to be quite clear, for life coverage, everything is determined specifically with respect to each affiliate? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And the risk pool within that affiliate? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.  And primarily the experience, previous experience of claims. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Right.  But with respect to the other benefits that you were referring to --

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  -- they're managed in context of the pool of each affiliate, is that ‑‑ 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Have I got that right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  The claims are made to the carrier within each affiliate by the employees.  And all of the costs associated with those claims are borne by the affiliate itself.  So they're budgeted within EGD for EGD's claims.  And we would pay all of the costs associated with that. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, with respect to pensions, I take it ‑‑ I think I asked this a couple of years ago ‑‑ that all the pensions affecting EGD employees are separated from the pension pools associated with the employees of other affiliates? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And they're stand‑alone as well. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.  Other than there is a SERP plan which is an Enbridge Inc. plan for executives across all of the Enbridge affiliates, but other than that the primary pension plan for the Enbridge Gas Distribution employees, both current employees as well as retirees, is a stand‑alone plan. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that plan is not accumulating big deficits at this point in time. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  It is in a very healthy surplus position.  In fact, we're precluded from making any payments into that plan by Revenue Canada guidelines. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  So out of the 2006 budget there is no payment for pension contributions? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  There is no payment for the major pension plan, which covers most of the employees.  There is a small payment related to a previous SERP plan which was an executive plan that covered a period of time for executives, I think approximately about ten years ago, that is under-funded and is in a funding position that requires payment. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I must have missed that in my review.  Can you turn me to anything that gets a little more detail on that one. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm not sure there is anything specifically.  That would be wrapped into the pension and benefit cost line.  If you would like to know the specific amount relating to that, we can take an undertaking for that. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well would it be a big number? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  No. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Big, of course, being a relative term. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm just going to confer one moment. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm not going to go further on that analogy.

      Can you give me an understanding of the magnitude in a ballpark ‑‑ 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's something less than 2 million. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  So there are 2 million of costs for 2006, related to contributions ‑‑ 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  To pension plans. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  ‑‑ to pension plans. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  Something less than 2 million towards pension plans and the rest is benefits. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm trying to understand a bit more about this plan.  You said it was established ten years ago? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  There is various SERP plans.  Right now, for all of the employees within Enbridge Gas Distribution, including retirees there's probably five pension plans in total that relate to different point in time.

      The main pension plan is the one that all current employees and most of our retirees are covered under and that is in a surplus position and that would be the largest pension fund of the five.

      There have also been several supplementary plans for executives that have been in place over a number of years, and those change over time.  At any point in time, one specific plan covers those individuals for a period of time, and then the plans get amended.  So there have been four of those supplemental plans.  One of them, I think there's only three or four individuals still receiving benefits from.  So it is a very old plan.  But of those, there is one that requires funding and that's the amount that we've talked about today, which is something less than 2 million. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me an indication of how many people are affected by this plan? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don't have that information with me. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  You said it is an executive plan? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.  The supplemental plan.  It's not just for executives.  It's for anybody in certain salary brackets. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Does this plan, then, cover individuals in other positions within the organization broadly? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Within EGD? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Within the whole EI group of companies. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'd have to verify the membership in those plans, but it would presumably include others. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  And I take it that over the past few years, with the number of bodies that seem to be getting on the corporate jet and coming out and going back and all of that, that there may have even been changes in designation of whether an employee was with EGD or EI, or another affiliate that might be affected by that plan; is that correct? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's possible. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is the amount of approximately 2 million that you've identified with respect to this under-funded plan, is that an allocated amount to EGD? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  That's amounts specifically related to the employees within Enbridge Gas Distribution. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  How was that determined? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's determined by the actuaries who manage that fund in Calgary.  So we don't receive a cost for our employees that are involved in that plan.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Does that mean your current employees?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Does that eliminate any employees who may have had past years of service with other affiliates?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Again, I'm not a pension plan design expert or an actuarial, but I believe for the period of time in which those individuals within that plan are within Enbridge Gas Distribution, they are covered for that period of time.


If they leave Enbridge Gas Distribution and move to a different affiliate, then they're then covered for that remaining portion of their service by that affiliate's plan -- by that affiliate's cost to that plan.


So if you accumulated any time within EGD, within that plan, that is still recognized when you retire as an element of calculation in your overall pension.


MR. DINGWALL:  Do you know when the under-funding was identified?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I beg your pardon?


MR. DINGWALL:  Do you know when the pension had its last valuation report?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It would have been last January.  They're done annually.


MR. DINGWALL:  Really?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Mm‑hmm.  Well, we have to file financial statements that show the funding liability of those plans every year.


MR. DINGWALL:  That's very interesting.  I had understood ‑ correct me if I'm wrong ‑ that frequent filing was a requirement of historical under-funding and that ‑‑


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, I could be mistaken.  Maybe it's not a full valuation, but I know that annually we report on the status of the liability for each plan.  Whether that is a full valuation, I perhaps am incorrect on that.


But certainly we file the status of each plan in our financial statements.


MR. DINGWALL:  When a pension is under-funded, as I understand it, there are numerous forms of mitigating that under-funding, depending on the time period you might wish to spread payments, depending on the status of the markets.


Do you know what time period the under-funding is being spread over in this case?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  No, I don't.  I'd have to check that.  Off the top of my head, I don't know that.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Time for Mr. Battista to get out the pencil.  I'm going to ask for an undertaking for the auditor's report, which allocates amounts to EGD - that's number 1 - in respect of the under-funded pension.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be given undertaking J14.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.2:  TO PROVIDE AUDITOR'S REPORT IN RESPECT OF UNDER-FUNDED PENSION

MR. DINGWALL:  I would also like the last formal valuation performed in respect to the pension.


MR. BATTISTA:  And that will be J14.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.3:  TO PROVIDE LAST FORMAL VALUATION PERFORMED REGARDING PENSION

MS. HABERBUSCH:  You're talking about just the under-funded?


MR. DINGWALL:  Just the under-funded pension.  We're not seeking additional costs in respect to other pensions at this time.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  Ratepayers are getting a holiday from that, just as we are.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, when we're on holiday, we don't think of things like that, so...

     I would also like an indication of the annual amounts or the annual values for that particular pension - you mentioned that there was some form if annual reporting done in respect to the pensions - for the past three years.  


Do you know, Ms. Haberbusch, whether or not there were any changes to the terms and conditions of that particular pension plan?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Over the last three years; is that your question?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well --


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I mean, the pension amendments happen throughout the course of a pension plan's life.  Some are fairly minor wording changes.  Is that what you're asking for, or you're asking about fundamental pension plan design changes?


MR. DINGWALL:  It's kind of like talking about that word "big" again.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  There hasn't been a major adjustment in the design of the pension plan for the last several years.  There have been several amendments to wording within those plans, but not material to the plan ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  Nothing affecting investing dates?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would have to go back and check that, because I don't manage that portfolio, but my guess is, from a plan design perspective, there hasn't been anything major.


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it if I were to ask for a copy of the plan, that you would be able to provide me with the most recent one.  It would show who would be subject to it, and, if you were to provide me with an indication over the past ‑‑ over the life of the plan, what corporate entities those individuals had worked for, for what time periods, and that would give me enough information to understand the valuator's report, the auditor's report?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm not sure we'd be prepared to tell you which individuals were involved in getting payments from that plan.


MR. DINGWALL:  Not in payments ‑‑ well --


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's really what that would be.  Who is involved in the plan would be those receiving payments.  I don't think we can give it to you on an individual level.  I think that would be a privacy violation. 


MR. DINGWALL:  What I would like to do is find a way to assess the auditor's report and how costs were allocated to EGD.  And in order to do that, it would be kind of helpful for me to know which individuals were with which companies at which time.


I don't know that that needs to get to the level of specific payments to the individuals.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  So you want to know how many people, in aggregate, were involved with that plan?


MR. DINGWALL:  If it's a senior executive plan.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  No, it's not a senior executive plan.


MR. DINGWALL:  It's a supplementary?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's a supplemental plan based on salary levels.


MR. DINGWALL:  Are there a large number of people in the plan?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I really couldn't tell you that without looking at ‑‑ speaking to our pension fund managers in Calgary to tell you how many people are in that plan.


MR. DINGWALL:  Why don't we start with the numbers, in aggregate, tracked by company, over the past five years, say?  We can see if that engenders the need to consider anything else further to that.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  For five years now?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, let's go three years.  We seem to like three years.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Three years is probably a little easier to find data at this point in time.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, I've lost track of all of these, and, frankly, it seems like a great deal of information.  So I have J14.2 and J14.3.  Are we still discussing the next one, which is three years of annual amounts, and you're refining that request, or -- because we don't have an undertaking number for that request.  Is this a further request?


MR. DINGWALL:  I think we can probably roll it into the same envelope, just to ‑‑ what I'm looking for is three years of information with respect to the pension, providing the aggregate number of employees affected, the companies for which they worked during that time period.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It is only the portion of time they worked for EGD that is going to be reflected in the cost to EGD.  Is that really more what you're looking for, how much time was spent by aggregate group of individuals within EGD, because that is tied to the payment?  How much time they spent in other affiliates is pretty much irrelevant.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm just trying to track which companies the people were working for during the time period.


MR. STEVENS:  Madam Chair, if I may?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Stevens.


MR. STEVENS:  I'm struggling with the relevance of some of these things.


I think that we've offered and we've undertaken to provide the auditor's report which allocates amounts to Enbridge Gas Distribution regarding the under-funded pension, the one of the, I believe, five that Ms. Haberbusch has been discussing.  We've undertaken to provide the last formal valuation for that pension.  And I think we were going down the road of undertaking to provide the annual reporting for the pension for the past three years.


So I believe that would show whatever amounts are being paid by the company towards these pensions.  I believe Ms. Haberbusch's evidence has been that the only amounts paid relate to employees who are resident within EGD at that time.


So to start going down this level of, well who are those people, what companies have they worked for at some point in their working life, when have they switched between, I'm not sure how helpful that is, and I share Ms. Haberbusch's complaint or  concern that we're really getting into potential privacy issues here. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, the third request - and being somewhat sympathetic to Mr. Stevens' comments - the third request, in addition to the annual amounts for the three years, I think what you're trying to get at is how many employees represent that cost and how much time did they spend with EGD.  So how many months of employment does that cost represent.  Is that ‑‑ 

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's essentially it, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Can you provide that, Ms. Haberbusch? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Thank you. 

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So that will be Undertaking J14.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.4:  TO PROVIDE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND AMOUNT OF TIME SPENT WITH EGD RELATIVE TO COST     

MS. NOWINA:  Now, the Board would like to add an undertaking, if we may, and please tell us if this is a concern.

      You said that the cost was less than two million dollars, but you didn't have a precise amount.  Given all the attention we're paying to it, it would be good to know how much less than two million dollars we're talking about. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think it is around $1.6 million from what my preliminary figures here show me.  It is about 1.6.  But to get the exact number I would have to go back and check. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps just subject to check, if it's a substantially different number than that, you can inform us. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Certainly. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now finally Ms. Haberbusch, and I know that we've got an undertaking for the auditor's report and that that will answer a number of questions.  But do you know whether there were any amounts allocated to EGD in respect of this pension for non‑EGD employees?  Anything under this whole corporate cost allocation envelope? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would have to check that to be sure, as part of the Enbridge Inc. allocations.  You're asking whether pension costs are layered on?

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would expect that they would be, in addition to their benefit costs.  But I would have to verify that to be able to answer you more fully. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Could I then ask you to verify that.  And if there is an amount allocated, to disclose the amount, please. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Undertaking J.14.5. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.5:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION AS TO WHETHER PENSION COSTS ARE LAYERED ON AS PART OF THE ENBRIDGE INC. ALLOCATIONS

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Dingwall, do you mean the pension amounts that are included in the, like in the RCAM loading?  Is that what you're ‑‑ just so I can understand. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's right. 

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Those are my questions, panel.  Thank you very much. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, you're going to lose your reputation for always meeting your time estimates. 

     Mr. Adams are you ready to proceed?

MR. ADAMS:  Yes, thank you Madam Chair. CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS: 

     MR. ADAMS:  I have to warn that I have slightly more questions than I anticipated in my original estimate yesterday arising out of answers provide to Mr. Thompson in yesterday's cross‑examination. 

     Panel, I'm intending to address areas related only to HR and to finance.  And first with respect to ‑‑ oh, I should also explain at the outset that Mr. Shepherd has notified me he has at least one question following my cross‑examination. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams, I think. 

     MR. ADAMS:  The HR department services both existing employees and the hiring process with respect to recruitment and selection.  We can find that in the evidence; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Do you have any advice for us, as a rule of thumb, as to the weighting of effort with respect to these two areas of activity with respect to existing employees versus new hires?  Of course, the company has a much larger population of existing employees than it has new hires at any point in time. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's correct. 

     MR. ADAMS:  But is it like a pro rata effort between these two categories if you're servicing 50 employees in some particular department they're existing versus 50 new hires?  My assumption here is that new hires require some additional effort than would prevail within existing employee, continuing employment relationship.

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, there's certainly different activities associated with recruitment.  Obviously there's the need, if you're going externally, to do some form of, you know, market assessment of candidates and reviewing of candidates, determining the requirements for the job, going through that process.  And then once that offer letter has been signed and returned, then there is an on-boarding process to set people up for benefit coverage, to establish their banks for payment and all of those elements, which doesn't happen with an existing employee.  But then there is a whole range of activities that happen once that person is an existing employee in terms of paying them and managing their benefit claims and doing all of those other elements.  So it is different work. 

     MR. ADAMS:  I appreciate that it is different work.  Is there any way you can give us some rule of thumb?  If we see, in the headcount of the company a large number of vacancies to be filled showing up, would we anticipate some increase in effort required by the HR department related to those? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Certainly.  There would be enhanced recruitment activity, but there is two ways that we recruit into positions.  One is we do look externally, if we decide that those skills are something we need to bring in from the marketplace or we might also post internally for those jobs and that is also managed by the HR department, in terms of those internal postings as well.  So, yes, if you're hiring for more vacancies, there would be an incremental amount of recruitment work required. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  I will come back to this area in a minute. 

     In the iterative process of developing this case ‑‑ developing the application, was there ‑‑ when was the first budget presented by the HR department, internally? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would have to just check, according to the schedule from the budget letter.  When would that have been the first time we met with finance?

     It's usually towards the end of summer, so -- one moment.  We would have prepared a first draft somewhere towards the end of summer, beginning of September.  And then I would have reviewed that with my staff and then we would have met with the finance group in early November, to review those budget costs. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Is that initial budget in evidence anywhere here? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don't think it would be.  Draft budgets aren't usually maintained.  They get refined over time.  We utilize those online and as we amend any budget amounts, we would produce an overlaid copy. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now I'm trying to understand how some aspects of this case connect together. 

     In the evolution of this application, the capital budget underwent some significant revisions.  And this has been subject to extensive cross‑examination with previous panels.  But there was an additional staff budget presented internally that identified an amount of $326.9 million.  I think Mr. Ladanyi was on a panel that was discussing this previous in the case.

     Now, the current budget that is presented here is $458 ‑‑ approximately $458 million. 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's capital, Mr. Adams. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Capital. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Are you talking about capital or O&M? 

     MR. ADAMS:  I'm talking about the capital budget.  Now, my question is this:  When the capital budget was revised, was there any impact on the budget of the HR department related to that very large increase in the capital budget?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don't believe so.


MR. ADAMS:  Can you help me understand how the capital budget could be ‑‑ or how the HR department's operating budget could be insulated from such a large expansion in the capital budget?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Unless the increase involved an addition of a number of permanent employees, it would really only relate to the operations budgets.  If they were using contingent workers, for example, to staff for those additional capital projections, we don't pay benefits to those individuals.  


So the only thing that is centrally budgeted within the HR budget is benefit coverage, and the other element is for bonus payments, which are only eligible for permanent employees.  So just incrementally increasing the capital budget, per se, doesn't necessarily have any impact.


MR. LADANYI:  Most of the construction labour work is done by contractors.  This is contracted out to various pipeline construction contractors to do the work, so they would not be our own employees.


MR. ADAMS:  One of the elements that showed up in the much-expanded capital budget was more aggressive system expansion.  I would have expected that some engineering staff, sales staff, people within the utility that service expansion, employees of the utility, would be called upon in greater numbers.  That's not the case?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I can't comment on that.  I think you'd have to check the O&M panels for both the engineering and our regional operations, but my understanding is there wasn't an excessive number of new employee additions that would have materially impacted our benefit coverage.


MR. LADANYI:  I believe that there are some additional contract employees in engineering, but you will have to check with the engineering panel.


MR. ADAMS:  I will pursue this later.  Thank you very much, panel, for that.


Along this theme of trying to understand what is driving the HR department budget, I observed from the evidence that the head count within the HR department was steady for the period 2003 through 2005, with an increase in one head count in 2006; is that correct?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, I just want to note the helpful assistance of Mr. Bourke in identifying an interrogatory.  Mr. Bourke's encylopedic knowledge of this case, of the pre-file in this case, is rivalled only by Mr. Ladanyi.  Mr. Bourke's humour is rivalled perhaps by no other employee of the company.  


I want to turn you to CCC Interrogatory 121.  That identifies the EGD head count and vacancies.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I have it.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, for the period from 2003 through 2005, if we combine the total number of filled positions and vacancies, the numbers decline slightly over that period; would you agree with me?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, let me perhaps clarify for you.  In 2003, there was three employee communications positions that were resident within human resources that actually moved to government public affairs in 2004.  So that number you see for 2003 shows 27 filled positions, and there was actually two vacancies, totalling 29, but three of those positions were employee communications positions that were in human resources for a period of time, and then moved out.  


So the actual number of human resource positions was the same.  It was actually 26 in total.


MR. ADAMS:  But where I am getting at here is something different.  If you look at for the company in total ‑‑


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Oh, the company in total.  Sorry, I thought you were talking about human resources.


MR. ADAMS:  Your answer was helpful, but I want to pay attention to the company in total here.  The client base that you're servicing here, the entire company's labour complement over the period from 2003 through 2005, there's a slight decline, and yet there's no decline in the number of staff within your department required.


In fact, in 2006, although the total number of positions will be less within the company than in 2003, you're proposing to increase the staff in your department by one more position.


So I'm looking to the total number of positions within the company and trying to identify any indications of efficiency gains in servicing this complement of workers by your department, and I'm not seeing it.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, first, let me help you out here.  If you're looking at ratios of positions within HR to the company at large, the fluctuations in the total amount of company employees is relatively small.  You're talking about a difference of 25 to 50 employees.  That's not going to fundamentally drive a change in head count of 27 people, which was 26 for the past several years.


The other thing you have to consider is what the services are that the HR groups provided over that time and whether those services have increased, in which case the head count has been held flat, even though the amount of volume of work has increased.


The other thing you also need to keep in mind is there are some complexities in pension and benefit administration, in managing employees, in dealing with day‑to‑day union labour relations, in really looking at maximizing the capability and efficiency for all of our employee capability, in general, and that has escalated over the last few years.  


So I would submit we're actually performing a greater amount of service, with a relatively small number of resources.


MR. ADAMS:  Can we agree, just at the highest level here, that ‑ and I believe you have agreed to it, but let me just make sure this is clear ‑ that the ratio between the number of people within your department versus the number of bodies you're servicing is at least a starting point for understanding the efficiency of operation of your department?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think that's probably fair.


MR. ADAMS:  And in your answer to my previous question, you identified a list of areas where you think that your output has increased.  Can you re-cap for me where you're claiming the increase in your activity level?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think there's a number of areas, but maybe before I just go through those, if you would like to look on the same chart, look back to 2000.  Total employees was 1,680; 50 people in human resources.


So I would see, if you're looking and tracking that over the course of several years, I think you can see some significant efficiencies in terms of your ratio of number of HR people to employee base.


However, to give you -- going back to your earlier question, Where have we seen some escalated levels of service?  First of all, in the areas of performance management, employee development, workforce planning, if we look at things like succession management, if we're looking at areas of leadership development, if we're looking at the amount of increased requirement from an audit and reporting perspective relating to Sarbanes‑Oxley, for one, looking at the amount of focus and requirement of managing a flexible benefit plan, which is much more complicated than having a set plan design that gives blanket coverage to everyone.


There's been a number of increases, in terms of the requirements for this group, as well as the services that they have provided.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  I want to move on now from the efficiency measurement by virtue of the ratio between the number of people in your department versus the number of people you are servicing, and address now the costs for operating your department versus the number of people you're servicing.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  The context for my question and my questions in this area, arise or their starting point, from the company's agreement in the 2005 case to a HR budget that is set out in A6, tab 1, schedule 1, page 19.  This was a chart that Mr. Ladanyi discussed at some length yesterday. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Just one moment.  If I can get that, please. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think that must be in the O&M overall filing, not in the HR so just one moment while we pull that up. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, yes. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay.  I have it. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Now, if we look there at comparing the HR settlement agreement for 2005, the figure we find the company agreed to for that year was $35.8 million. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  That was the amount we agreed to have recovered in rates, yes. 

     MR. ADAMS:  And if we compare that with your proposed budget amount, what we see there is an increase that I calculate at 10.9 percent.  Do you accept that, subject to check? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm sorry, which number is that you're comparing it to? 

     MR. ADAMS:  Against your budget for 2006. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  The 2006 budget.  I see a line there that looks like 4.1.  So you're looking at the HR budget of $35.8?  In the 2005 settlement and the 2006 versus 39.7? 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's what you're looking at? 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Now, if we're trying to understand what happened to your department's expenses in 2005 versus ‑‑ or according to your current estimate.  First of all, I should establish there is an estimate provided here of 40.3, as the currently estimated costs of operating your department for this year, 2005?

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  For 2005 ending December 31st. 

     MR. ADAMS:  You're still comfortable with that figure? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Okay.  In your evidence in the pre-file speaks to the reasons underlying the 4.5 million dollar increase in your department's budget for this year? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's not a $4.5 million increase in the overall budget.  The difference between calendar 2005 and calendar 2006 is actually ‑‑ 

     MR. ADAMS:  That's not what I was asking. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Is actually a decrease. You're asking about? 

     MR. ADAMS:  What I was asking is when we're trying to understand what happened to your department's budget from the agreement in the last case for 2005 versus what you're testifying now is your department's costs.  You have a paragraph, paragraph 15 of your evidence that sets out the reasons underlying that increase. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Between the settlement proposal? 

     MR. ADAMS:  Settlement proposal. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  And the 2006 budget? 

     MR. ADAMS:  No.  Settlement proposal and the 2005 current estimate. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Oh, okay.  I understand. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Right?  And can we agree that approximately 80% of the difference ‑‑ or 80% of the increase in your 2005 HR budget is attributable to corporate cost allocations? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Subject to check, yes. 

     MR. ADAMS:  What role did you play in the arrival of these costs into your area of responsibility? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, I think we've gone through this on the cost allocation panel of which I sat for a day, but as the service recipient of the HR‑related services, I was involved in determining which services would be required through Enbridge Inc., reviewing those statements and making sure that they were accurately portraying the services, and then I also reviewed the costs associated with that allocation to make sure that I felt it was of cost benefit to EGD to receive those services in that way.

     MR. ADAMS:  Fine.  With respect to the 2006 budget, I take your evidence ‑‑ you've expressed in your evidence that part of what's driving the 2006 budget is to achieve training, to respond to the training requirements of the firm. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Is that correct?  Are you proposing ‑‑ in the 2006 training amount that is reflected in your budget, does this training amount reflect a sustaining level of training?  Or is there make up for previous years of underspending in training? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  First let me clarify it is not just exclusively training within that budget. 

     I think we did cover this in the corporate cost allocation when we talked about the category of employee development.  It does include training and development, so it would include leadership development, it would include any of the general skills training.  It includes computer training of our staff.  It includes tuition aid, where we refund the costs for employees to supplement their education on their own time.  But it also includes some other areas, like for example our employee survey costs are covered in this category.  So too are all of the costs associated with conducting any work force planning assessments, it also includes all of the areas around performance management and assessment, et cetera.  So just to clarify that. 

     But in terms of whether or not there is any reinstatement, yes, there was actually reinstatement from 2003 we made some fairly significant cuts in this particular area, to mitigate costs.  Those were partially reinstated in 2004 and further reinstated in 2005.  So what you're seeing between 2005 and 2006 is actually kept flat.  But it would be the amount that we feel is required to ensure that we have an optimally functioning employee base. 

     MR. ADAMS:  I didn't understand that answer.  In 2006, you got a sustaining amount for training. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct. 

     MR. ADAMS:  2005, you had reinstatement costs.  But you're saying that between 2005 and 2006 the training component of your budget is flat. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct. 

     MR. ADAMS:  And I don't understand how.  How can you have reinstatement in 2005? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  We reinstated some funding in the 2005 budget and that has been maintained going forward into 2006. 

     MR. ADAMS:  I see.  Okay.  Do we have in evidence someplace these claimed reinstatement costs, starting in 2004 and 2005, that arise out of the cost cutting that was incurred in 2003? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, I think if you look further through that evidence, you can see the ‑‑ in table 2, for example, you will see ‑ that's Exhibit A6, tab 6, schedule 1, on page 5, you will see that the amount under that category is flat.

     So that's showing the difference, that there isn't any difference between 2005 and 2006.

     If you go forward, through that evidence, and you get to table 4, you will be able to look and see that the 2004 actuals compared to the 2005 estimate, shows some under-funding in 2004.

     And we're actually indicating in the variance explanation that it is reinstatement of funding from reductions made in 2003 and partially reinstated in 2004.  So fully restored in 2005. 

     MR. ADAMS:  How much was cut from that budget in 2003, this training budget that was reinstated? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don't have 2003 evidence with me.  I would have to check that. 

     MR. ADAMS:  I wonder if we can get in one place a summary of what the reductions were in the training budget in 2003 and then the reinstatement that you're claiming occurred in 2004/2005 and 2006. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm not claiming any occurred in 2006.  I'm claiming it occurred between 2003 and 2005.  

What I'm saying is 2006 is flat from the previous rate cases where we investigated those issues.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  All right.  So you're not making any claim that in 2006 we're still paying for cuts that you made in 2003?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm saying that the budget amounts have been the same in 2005 and 2006.


MR. ADAMS:  Do you know what the reinstatement component of the 2005 and 2004 expenditures were?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would have to check that.  I don't have that with me today, no.


MR. ADAMS:  I would like you to do that, and the reason is this.  What I am trying to get at is comparing ‑‑ we've gone through here trying to compare the number of people in your department versus the number of people you serve.  Now I'm trying to get at the costs in your department versus the number of people you serve.


And I want to take out the reinstatement amount so that I can do this 2004, 2005, 2006 on an apples-to-apples basis, not -- with the numbers not affected by these reinstatement amounts.


So I am asking for an undertaking to provide the reinstatement training costs for 2004 and 2005, and I have also explained my purpose.  Is that sufficiently clear?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I understand what you're asking for.  I'm not sure that that is going to meet your need, because that's ‑- if you're trying to put a cost per employee for HR or something, I'm not sure that that is going to help you.  But, fair enough, we will undertake to get you what you need.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would also like to make it clear, though, ‑‑


MR. BATTISTA:  Sorry, that will be J14.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.6:  REINSTATEMENT TRAINING COSTS FOR 2004 AND 2005

MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would like to just make it clear, though, what we're talking about in terms of the budgetary amount in 2006 is an amount that is relating to something around $800 per employee for the year.  That's a pretty marginal cost to be able to provide all of the services entailed, with leadership development, general skills, computer training, lunch-and-learns and a host of other activities.


MR. ADAMS:  Well, I think you've anticipated where I'm going here.  I am trying to calculate ‑‑ and I won't push you on the stand to try and follow along with this, and I think this is a matter that we will take up an argument.  I am trying to calculate operating costs of your department on a cost-per-employee basis.  


Do you object to that ratio being an indicator of the efficiency of operations of the HR function within your company?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's fine.  We will include it.


MR. ADAMS:  Because just on its face, if I have ‑‑ I have calculated a cost per employee.  Do you track this yourself?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Cost per employee?  An overall O&M cost per employee?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Not specifically.


MR. ADAMS:  Would you be surprised if I suggested to you that the cost per employee on a Board‑approved, company-agreed level for 2005 worked out to about $20,200 per customer, but what you're claiming in this case works out to around $22,100 per customer?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Per customer?


MR. ADAMS:  Per employee.  I'm calling the head count and number of vacancies within Enbridge Gas Distribution as your customers.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay.


MR. ADAMS:  And what I see there is that from 2005 to 2006, the cost for servicing ‑‑ cost per employee that you service has increased by 9.4 percent in one year.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  So you're also including in there any benefit costs that arise, as well?  That's not going to be a factor of productivity of the HR function, because the costs included within the O&M budget for HR is all of the benefit costs for all of the employees within Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. ADAMS:  So are you suggesting that one method of examining trends in the efficiency of operation of your department is to back out these benefit-related costs?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm just trying to understand how you're trying to relate efficiency or ability to service clients from an overall budget that includes costs across the organization for a number of things, including learning and development, which -- one element of that being tuition aid.  It depends upon how many employees elect to take post-secondary education.  I don't believe that is servicing of the HR is going to impact that in either way.


But I'm prepared to take the undertaking and get you that number.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams, I'm not clear.  There wasn't an additional undertaking?  Was there an additional undertaking? 


MR. ADAMS:  There's only one undertaking.


MS. NOWINA:  Just the reinstatement cost?


MR. ADAMS:  Training reinstatement costs related to the 2003 amounts that showed up in 2004 and 2005.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Whatever other calculations are going to flow from that you are going to do yourself?


MR. ADAMS:  I will do myself, present in argument, and the company will have an opportunity to respond at that time.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you for that clarification.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  We will get that for you.


MR. ADAMS:  Finally, a few brief questions in the area of finance.  I think this is clear, but just for the purposes of the record, in the finance area, Mr. Ladanyi.


The evidence as filed refers frequently throughout that evidence to risk management activities within the finance department.  Am I understanding correctly that this risk management does not overlap with the gas commodity risk management issue that has been addressed previously in testimony before the Board?


MR. LADANYI:  It does not.  It is completely different risk management.  Just the words are the same, but the meaning is different.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Thank you.  Mr. Ladanyi, in the HR evidence, pre-filed evidence, there was a helpful explanation as to the reasons underlying the increase in the 2005 spending, comparing the amount agreed to by the company versus the amount that is currently estimated to be spent by the company.  And we find there that corporate cost allocations represent about 80 percent of that story.


For the finance department, however, the 2005 company‑agreed amount for the finance department is, I believe, not referred to in the pre-filed chapter on the finance department.  Did I miss something?


MR. LADANYI:  No, you didn't.


MR. ADAMS:  If we look to that exhibit, that overview exhibit we were referring to previously, A6, tab 1, schedule 1, page 19 ‑‑


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have it.


MR. ADAMS:  -- we see there that the amount for the finance department, agreed to by your company, was $15.1 million for 2005, but that the estimate on a fiscal basis is $17.9 million.


Can you help us understand what the causes were for that increase?  That increase I calculate to be 18.5 percent.


MR. LADANYI:  I will accept that, subject to check.  I think that, number one, you have to recognize ‑ and we have discussed this at length already in this proceeding ‑ that the $15.1 million budget includes the settled portion of the $13.5 million corporate cost allocation.


So the corporate cost allocation inside the $15.1 million number is $5.5 million, and you don't have to turn to that.  That is actually pointed out in Exhibit K6.4.


The estimate is a higher number.  It's not $5.5 million.


MR. ADAMS:  Do you know what the corporate cost allocation amount reflected is in the $17.9 million?


MR.LADANYI:  Just give us a moment.


You can turn to Consumers Coalition of Canada interrogatory number 30, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 30.  

     If you see in that exhibit, you will see our estimate in the column that says 2005 estimate, we have costs charged by affiliates, 1,371,000.  Now, within the risk management portion, which is shown, up above the sub total which is $6,157,000, there is a -- within that is the insurance costs, in the estimate and unfortunately I don't have that in evidence.  I can just tell you what it is.  In the estimate, that insurance portion of the corporate cost allocation is 4,507,000.  So you would have to add the two numbers.  You will have to add $1,371,000 to 4,507,000, and the number is $5,878,000.  

     MR. ADAMS:  And that $5,878 odd -- I've forgotten the figure. 

     MR. LADANYI:  $5,878,000. 

     MR. ADAMS:  That corresponds to the 5.1 million that was previously reflected in the settlement agreement?  

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it does.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So if we're trying to track apples to apples, the impact of corporate cost allocation on the increase in spending, that would be the figure that we would turn to?  

     MR. LADANYI:  That would be the figure you would turn to.  Yes.  I'm not familiar with all of the corporate cost allocation interrogatories in evidence.  There's a lot of material there.  There could be another exhibit that has these numbers, but I'm not that familiar with all of that material.  

     MR. ADAMS:  I'm satisfied with that answer.  


Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Mr. Shepherd, can you give us an indication of the time you will take?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Five minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we proceed then.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:    

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Ladanyi, just following up on that.  

There are - in the various budgets for all of the departments and you're responsible for the regulatory budget; right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Overall regulatory budget, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in most of the budgets, there's a line usually called costs charged by affiliates.  That's the corporate cost allocation line; right?  

     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sometimes it's called something else, but it's generally that. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Generally.  When we sent out instructions, we wanted each department to put in a line called costs charged by affiliates, as previously pointed out. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So for finance, for example, the 2005 estimate is 1,371,000.  That's the number under CAM; right?  

     MR. LADANYI:  That number, yes.  That's the CAM number, forecast CAM number.  But it is not the total number as I just pointed out because also -- the insurance is shown on a separate line.  It's shown inside risk management.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I understand that.  And similarly you have a 2004 actual of $1,226,000 and that also is a CAM number; right. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But the 2006 number, of course, is a RCAM number. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now those CAM numbers -- I thought that CAM numbers were all unloaded costs, but they look to 

me like they're loaded costs; is that right?  

     MR. LADANYI:  I am not an expert in the methodology.  I'm sorry to say.  I can't answer that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask it a different way.  There was about $7 million in 2005 of support loading under CAM.  

     You're -- the regulatory budget is yours.  Where that is that $7 million?  What line is it on in your O&M stuff?  

Where would I find it?  

     MR. LADANYI:  I think it is spread out to various departments under the RCAM methodology.  There's not sitting on a separate line as far as I know. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking for 2005 CAM numbers. 

     MR. LADANYI:  2005 CAM?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Your 2005 estimates have a CAM number; right?  

     MR. LADANYI:  Give us a moment to confer.  

     [Witness panel confers]  

     MR. LADANYI:  We really don't have any piece of evidence that we can point to and we are not familiar with the methodology.  There was a panel here for several days and we can't answer that, I'm sorry to say. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well then let me ask it to you a different way.  You filed a budget for the finance department that includes a 2005 estimate and a 2004 actual number for corporate cost allocation; correct?  

     MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do those numbers include all of the costs associated with those services that you received in those years?  

     MR. LADANYI:  That's what I believe.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Perhaps I can help you here.  Those would not have been fully loaded costs.  You can see that if you actually look in the HR O&M budget, or the evidence.  And if you look at the costs charged to affiliate.  In 2005 it was a much larger number than it is in 2006 under RCAM, because those costs associated with the benefits, for example, provided to Enbridge Inc. employees were amalgamated within the HR budget allocation in 2005. 

     So they were not fully loaded on to the departmental costs, as they are under RCAM in 2006.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let's just see if we can 

understand that, then.  So you've got cost charged by affiliates.  I'm looking at A 6, tab 6, schedule 1. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's where you're getting these from; right?  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So some of the loading costs, in fact, were formally charged to HR and now they're charged to the departments; is that right?  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  They're allocated by service under RCAM.  They're fully loaded costs by service under RCAM.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that total is two and a half million?  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Are you asking about what's allocated to human resources in 2006?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I'm asking about the change in that allocation.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  The difference in allocation amounts to $2.5 million.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Less in 2006.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     Mr. Millar. 

     MR. MILLAR:  No questions, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 

     Mr. Stevens, your re-direct. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Just a few questions, Madam Chair.  

     RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. STEVENS:  

     MR. STEVENS:  First, panel you recall that yesterday Mr. Warren asked you a number of questions regarding compliance with SOX and the Canadian equivalent which is, I believe, you described as multi-lateral instrument 52-109. 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's right. 

     MR. STEVENS:  And you may recall that as part of his questions, Mr. Warren suggested that all of the compliance

required here was really compliance that was required by Enbridge Inc.  

     I just had a few questions following up on that.  Can somebody tell me, please, does EGD itself issue bonds and debentures?  

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it does.  EGD, as Mr. Boyle said I think a few days ago is a very large issuer of bonds and debentures and I think we have -- I'm just checking my notes here.  We have in 2006, there are two, $300 million issues of bonds.  I think that's in the -- it's Mr. Boyle's evidence in the cost of capital.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And do SOX and the Canadian equivalent of it apply in any way to debentures?  

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  The word “issuer” in SOX or in instrument that's used by the Ontario Securities Commission, the issuer is issuer of both debt and equity.  And I should point out that the debt is issued as Enbridge Gas Distribution debt.  It is not Enbridge Inc. debt.  So the debt that is used in to finance our -- all our capital investments is Enbridge Gas Distribution bonds.  They are not Enbridge Inc. bonds, and we have roughly 35 percent equity and the rest is debt and preferred ‑‑ well, the debt portion is Enbridge Gas Distribution bonds, and they're actually listed in our exhibits in -- maybe I can ‑‑ I don't know if you would like to turn them up.  


For example, if you look up Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 2, you can see there a listing of a very large number of debt instruments that we have.  We have, you know, for example, $1.6 billion worth of different debt instruments, and each of the notes -- and also long‑term debentures, we have another $585 million and they're all specifically listed there.


These would all be issued by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Now, obviously we don't have a treasury department.  That's one service that is provided by Enbridge Inc. in Calgary, but the work they do, they go out and they sell these debentures and bonds.  They do it in our name, the name of Enbridge Gas Distribution, as the listed issuer.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  So what does it mean in terms of Enbridge Gas Distribution's own compliance requirements in terms of SOX and the Canadian equivalent?  


MR. LADANYI:  Enbridge Gas Distribution has to be compliant.  It doesn't have a choice.  So it is not something that is done just for Enbridge Inc.  It is something that we have to comply with as a very large issuer in the Canadian securities market.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Secondly, panel, you will recall that yesterday Mr. Thompson spent a fair bit of time reading excerpts to you from various Enbridge Inc. or Enbridge Gas Distribution strategy documents.


Mr. Thompson seemed to suggest that Enbridge Gas Distribution's plan has been to file an incentive-based regulation case by 2007.


And you will recall that when Ms. Haberbusch stated ‑‑ and I took this from the transcript, so I think this is right - that budget decisions were not based on moving to incentive regulation.  They, being the people in the departments, were instructed to do a cost-of-service application, which was a ground-up budget, as they have done in previous years.


Then you may recall that in response, Mr. Thompson made an editorial comment that, I find that hard to accept.


So with that background, I would like to ask each of the members of the panel, except for Ms. Haberbusch:  Are you aware of any direction from senior management that any budgets for the fiscal 2006 year should be set with a view to incentive regulation?


MS. STOKES‑BAJCAR:  I'm not aware.


MR. LADANYI:  I'm not aware.


MS. URQUHART:  I'm not aware.


MS. KELLY:  I'm not aware.


MR. CULBERT:  Same for me.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Thirdly, Mr. Thompson asked some questions about the human resources finance and non‑departmental groups and the fact that each of those groups are spending more for fiscal 2005 than had been agreed upon as an allocation for future budget reviews as part of the fiscal 2005 settlement.


Now, with that background, can somebody just briefly explain to me who pays any amounts that are over the settlement agreement envelope?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, any amount in the current year that's over the settlement agreement envelope, it goes out of the shareholder's pocket.  Ratepayers are not charged for that.  So this is strictly a shareholder cost and variance, and there is no recovery mechanism or anything for that, so we are only recovering in rates what the Board has allowed.  Anything else is coming from the shareholder.


MR. STEVENS:  Why would the shareholder do this?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, the shareholder believes that these are necessary expenses.  The shareholder has every intention of staying in this business and can't stop spending money to do things that need to be done to stay in business, to keep the -- this operation going.  It has no choice.  


We are providing an essential service to customers, to the ratepayers in this province, and we can't somehow curtail service just because -- when the Board does not allow us to recover some portion of our money.  We have to continue to send bills, as I said before.  We have to continue to provide service on many levels that we do provide service.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And what would it mean for the company if it was forced to live within the budget that was set for rate-making purposes at a time before the test year even begins?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, it might create difficulties.  For example, I will give you some ideas that just come to mind.  There could be a situation whereby one of the cost drivers that we face is a number of locates.  What would happen is that there is outside demands in the marketplace to -- out -- to go out there and do the locates when there is construction of roads, when there is other construction going on.  This is a charge that would vary with the construction activity.  


What would we do?  We would say we're not going to pay for locates any more?  You can go out and dig wherever you like, and there would be the possibility of accidents happening as a result, because we ran out of locate budget money.  You can go down different things.  You can say, Well, sorry, we're not going to be sending out bills for the next couple of months, because they ran out of money for the ‑‑ to pay our bill provider.


There's a lot of things that would have to be curtailed.  And I think the issue that often comes up is that the Board in this room, what it does, it sets costs to be recovered in rates, what is appropriate for rate-making purposes.  But the Board does not take over the management of the company.  The management is ultimately responsible for running this business and ensuring that the proper level of service is delivered to customers when needed.


The Board is really just setting rates and what's going on ‑‑ that is what is happening here.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And just one final question arising from the conversation with Mr. Adams this morning.


Now, I wrote this down and I think I got it right.  Mr. Adams suggested that he's going to argue that the costs per employee, in terms of the HR department costs, has gone up $2,000, I believe he said, from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006.


I just had a couple of questions for you arising from that, Ms. Haberbusch.  What is the HR department's budget estimate for the fiscal 2005 year?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  The overall budget for fiscal 2005 ‑‑


MR. STEVENS:  I'm sorry, the estimate.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  The estimate, you mean?  It is $40.3 million.


MR. STEVENS:  And are you tracking to that budget?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  To date, we are.


MR. STEVENS:  And what is the estimate for fiscal 2006?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  The 2006 budget number is actually $39.7 million.


MR. STEVENS:  And what's the change between those two?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's driven by a few things and --


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, I could be more specific.  Just in terms of the number, it is fair to say it is actually going down by --


MS. HABERBUSCH:  665,000 less, yes.


MR. STEVENS:  And has the number of employees in the enterprise changed markedly between 2005 and 2006?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Not markedly, no.  I think we're looking at -- when these budgets were prepared, I think it was an incremental increase of about 30 positions, as I recall, between 2005 and '6.


MR. STEVENS:  So what would you say, then, in response to Mr. Adams' comment that the costs per employee has gone up, gone up $2,000 from 2005 to 2006?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It wouldn't appear to be the case, looking at the numbers.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  We will now break until five minutes past 11:00.  Thank you very much, panel.  You may step down.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.

     --- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m. 

     --- On resuming at 11:05 a.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Welcome back, panel.  

Mr. Lanni, do you have any preliminary matters? 

     MR. LANNI:  There are no preliminary matters, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let me remind myself where we are with this panel, or someone can remind me, please. 

     MR. LANNI:  This panel is speaking to the regional 

operations and strategic and key accounts budgets, issues 9.1.1 and 9.1.2 of the issues list.  They were empanelled on Tuesday, and they were not on the stand yesterday, but they will resume now with their testimony.  And I believe Mr. Shepherd gave his cross, and now following him will be Mr. Dingwall.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Uh-huh.  So now I know where I am on the list.  

Mr. Dingwall, Mr. Thompson and Mr. Adams, I believe. 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct, Madam. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, will you be questioning this panel?  

     MR. WARREN:  No, I won't.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  

Mr. Dingwall, go ahead.  

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  
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     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

     MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I am here to present cross-examination on behalf of the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  

     In looking at the budget with respect to operations, can you give me an indication as to whether or not you foresee, in the test year, making full use of EnVision?  

     MR. MILNER:  In the test year, the first part of EnVision, which is really the back office work and asset management system, will be fully utilized.  

     There is a second phase of this that is called field force technology, and in the test year, we will be rolling that out.  So it will be transitioned in during the test year.  By the end of the year, that system will be fully rolled out.  So I really see benefits coming in the following year, full benefits of that system. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, you just said that by the end of the year? 

     MR. MILNER:  Hmm-hmm. 

     MS. HARE:  I think, Mr. Dingwall, this was discussed on the EnVision panel.  What we have in mind for the implementation of field force transformation is not to go one-bang approach, as we did with EnVision.  So this can be rolled out probably starting in Niagara, is the current thinking, and then moved along into all of the other regions and all of the other applications.  And that’s 

why Mr. Milner is saying “by the end of the year”.  Certainly, we expect some use of those mobile devices in the first quarter of 2006, but not by everybody.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is it intended on being a phased 

Approach? 

     MS. HARE:  Yes, exactly.  That's what I was trying to describe, perhaps not very well. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I believe I understood from the EnVision panel that it would have been first quarter 2006.  

     MS. HARE:  But phased in.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I take it as well that it is the operations department that would be providing the people that would be doing any form of cast iron replacement; is that correct?  

     MS. HARE:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. BRIGGS:  If I can just correct.  It's not entirely our people.  We'll be using contractors substantially to do that work.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I believe I understood from one of the previous panels that, with respect to the use of contractors, the company has entered into two key strategic arrangements, and that those strategic arrangements have resulted in fixed fee-for-service contracts.  Is that correct?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  They're actually four strategic contracts.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Four strategic contracts. 

     MR. BRIGGS:  Four strategic contracts.  And in terms of fee-for-service, the contracts are structured to do that, but also allows some flexibility to collaborate on identifying initiatives that will help drive costs down, both for us and for our contractors.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me an indication of what type of services are fixed at what type of fee rates. 

     MR. BRIGGS:  Well, if I can speak to the service part of our business.  When we have to change a meter, for example, or inspect appliances, those are the -- those are types of high-volume work where a per-unit cost is structured in the contract.  

     There are other types of work, so, for example, if we have to respond to a damage and we have to call in contractor resources to help us to make safe, we don't know how long that's going to take and the significant coordination.  So that then becomes more of a time-oriented contract, so it would be dollars per unit of time.  

     Those are just a couple of examples.  If I was to look at our construction side of the business, again, there are fixed prices in there for units, either per meter or per service, by size.  There are quite a large number of different types of work that are in these contracts.  

     The majority of it are unit driven or unit price types of work or arrangements.  And to the extent that prices are fixed, and I will refer to this year over year, fixed, there's no inflation for the first three years of these contracts.  However, this is also contingent on driving out some of these initiatives that will help save costs.  

     So it truly is a strategic type of arrangement.  This is not something that is just a bid and a buy.  It is an arrangement where, you know, we have some surety in costs; however, there are up sides to all parties if we can work at driving out further costs. 

Does that answer your question?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  It does.  So do I understand it, then, and to clarify, for construction in projects that have more of a time line associated with them which is definable, you have fixed costs set out in your contract per type of work, whether it be per meter of pipe or depending on pipe sizes.  Is that correct? 

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes.  Yes.  Where you have volume work and it is repetitive work, that is exactly the way it is, yes.  There are other types of work.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, in discussion two days ago, I believe there was some discussion around how Enbridge begins to look at its own costs and efficiencies.  

     Is Enbridge beginning to track its own costs of using its own people on the same basis under which you’re costing these services that you're using contractors for?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  I think the short answer to that is that we are.  We are beginning to.  And when I say "beginning to", we always have tracked these types of costs, but with new systems and new ways to account for work, we have to basically rebuild databases and rebuild the costing analysis.  

     So that is something that we're doing.  We have some, what I would consider a number of different, unique comparators that we're using today.  But they aren't the things that we will be using in the future to really understand those costs better.  But, yes, the short is answer is, yes, we're beginning to.  And in some areas we see some differences and it is helping us to determine where we put our resources, our company resources, and where we resource our contractors.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  What kind of comparators are you using today?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Well, in terms of the utilization, there are a number of measures that we're attempting to use.  One is called task efficiency.  So, for example, if I want to do a job and that job -- if I take the time to measure that job on a unit basis, and say the job takes a half an hour, that's the task time to do the job.  

     And if I were to take -- if I were to take that task time and look at that relative to changes in the environment - so I've got a better schedule now with our new system, I've got better information - then I'm expecting improvements in amount of time to do that task.  

     I just wanted to clarify.  Are you really interested in the construction metrics?  Or are you speaking generally?  Because I can -- I would like to finish my answer to that one, to talk about some of the metrics that we're using, but I want to make sure that I'm answering the specific interest that you're --


MR. DINGWALL:  I like the broad approach, because that will then give me the basis on which to determine which questions I'll be asking you next.  Thank you, sir.  Please continue. 


MR. BRIGGS:  Okay.  So I was down into the weeds with task efficiency.  That's a metric that is something that is -- you know, we're looking at our own resources.  If you're looking at, then, utilization, so this becomes, you know, I've got a job to do, time on that job, and there's time that I'm actually doing the task, there's time that I'm not doing the task, and there is a percentage.  And we call that utilization.  


So we have task efficiency and we have utilization metrics that we're using to drive productivity with our own people.  So, really, this is comparing against yourself.  Are we getting better on task efficiency?  Are we getting better on utilization?  And that helps us to drive out costs.  It helps us to be able to give -- you know, to do more work with our own resources, and so on.


So that's the kind of metrics that we're using currently.  They're not, as I said, integrated across the systems yet.  We're in the process of developing the reports and validating those as we implement the EnVision system.  So we have some of that, but it's not consistent across the organization today, simply because we don't have the systems to make it consistent, but we are driving that way and we do have some preliminary information which shows ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that by being able to identify the efficiency of particular contractor ‑‑ not contractor ‑‑ particular service segments within the company, that then enables you to understand what the company's costs for performing those services would be; is that correct?


MR. MILNER:  We are attempting to pull together a model that will allow us to do that more objectively.  That's a work in progress right now.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, at this point in time you've got, I believe you mentioned, a set schedule of fees per services should you choose to use external contractors for things such as new construction or inspections or services like that.


Are you able to identify how Enbridge Gas Distribution's own costs for performing those services relate or compare?


MR. MILNER:  As I said, we started some work with that, and -- but it's by no means where we need it to be, to say that, Here is an accurate comparison.


Some of the factors that you would use with that, you have to look at the direct costs and some of the indirect costs that support those activities.  And those are the types of things that we're analyzing and trying to validate as we move through this.


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that as part of the whole reason for doing EnVision, you kind of had a starting point in mind of what your current efficiencies pre EnVision were.  Is there any way that you can give an indication of what the company's costs to perform the services that are identified as ones that are fixed ‑‑ or fixed fee‑for‑service with outside contractors would be, so we can kind of see what that looks like?


MR. MILNER:  The short answer is that there is no direct comparison today.  We do know, from a productivity perspective, where we were and we know that in some areas we're doing, you know, quite well.


But to compare it directly with the contractor, there's some more modelling that is required to really do that, and more data that we don't yet have from the system.  So, yes, we benchmarked where we were and we know where we think we want ‑‑ we think we're able to go with the system.  And so, basically, we've set some goal posts to try to head towards, in terms of our utilization and task efficiency.  


But there are a lot of things that have to come together to do that.  We're not there yet, but we will, as EnVision is fully implemented.


MR. DINGWALL:  So it sounds like you've got some confidence that you will be able to achieve certain cost goals with respect to some of the more defined functions with EnVision; is that correct?


MR. MILNER:  Yes, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is there somewhere in the record where those cost goals are set out?


MR. MILNER:  I'm not sure if it's on the record.  I would assume that in previous rate cases we've talked about EnVision and the benefits.  You're asking, I think, for the specific cost goals?


MR. DINGWALL:  That's right.


MR. MILNER:  So productivity types of goals and things like that?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, do they exist sort of in the same fashion as the fee schedules that you've got with the external contractors?


MR. MILNER:  No, no, they don't.


MR. DINGWALL:  Cost per meter or cost per service?


MR. MILNER:  Not on the record, I don't think.  And I don't believe we've broken it out that way.


In fact, what we've done is we've identified the areas and what we have to put in place to enable us to achieve those types of things.  We haven't set them specifically, because we just simply don't know what would be applied to specific types of work at this time.  I think we know generally what we're trying to do and what will drive those improvements, but we haven't broken it out on a per-unit basis at this time.  


So we know by function, but not by unit.


MR. DINGWALL:  Can you tell me how that would work?


MR. MILNER:  Well...


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, I'm whispering to Mr. Milner because I'm not sure what you're asking, whether or not we're responding to your questions, because you're asking about EnVision benefits, but you're also asking about the strategic distribution alliance, and I think the trouble is having ‑‑ is trying to mesh the two.


MR. MILNER:  There are a couple of things going ‑‑ that I'm talking to here.  Ops transformation includes a number of initiatives.  EnVision is one of them.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, with respect to the strategic alliance that you made reference to, I take it that EGD is under no obligation to receive the services if it can perform the activity more efficiently itself; is that correct?  You're not captive to the contract?


MR. MILNER:  No.  There are ways to get out of the contract.


MS. HARE:  One thing I would like to add, Mr. Dingwall, is the company uses contractors not just if they are more cost efficient.  We use contractors to levelize the workload, as well.  So it is not just a function of cost.


We are committed to having an employee work force, a skilled employee work force, and having contractors work with us enables us to accomplish that work in the most efficient and effective manner.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, looking at the construction projects that are in place for the test year, is there a certain percentage of them that you're forecasting you will be using external contractors for?


MR. MILNER:  There would be a number of projects that external contractors would be used, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And some these might be based on more on where logistical challenges favour the economics of external contractors; is that correct?


MR. MILNER:  Yes, that's true.


MR. DINGWALL:  What I'm looking at here is an interesting opportunity that the company has.  It's got a service schedule which, for predictable functions it appears, gives the company a fixed cost that it can take advantage of if, in fact, there is an advantage to it, and what that suggests to me is that for the company to make proper use of that and maximize its benefit, the company should be moving towards some form of tracking of its own metrics that give direct comparisons.


Is that essentially what the goal of the company is?


MR. MILNER:  Well, certainly we have an initiative to look at our work force and to contrast that and measure it against our contractor resources.


In terms of making decisions on, you know, one or the other, it's a fairly complex situation which you're actually looking at.  And to Ms. Hare's comments, the contingent nature of our work ‑‑ so in a situation where we have, you know, major damage and there's outages and that sort of thing, we need other resources to do that, and we have to have a contingent work force to do that.
      And contractors provide that for us.  So when you analyze this, it's not just a straight, you know, apples-to-apples comparison.  But it is the thing that we are wrestling with and we are trying to determine, comparators that we can actually use to make other decisions around, Where is the best use of our resources in the market? 

     MS. HARE:  I think the flood that we had in Toronto a couple of weeks ago is actually a very good example, in that areas were flooded out, and on a Friday night and Saturday.  We had to have fitters go door to door, in areas that we knew were flooded, to make sure that the situation was first made safe, and that then the people understood   they couldn't re-light their appliance without having an inspection.  So that amount of workload wasn't anticipated and we wouldn't have the staff to be able to do that and so very much we rely on contractors to help us over those situations.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Right.  And what those situations tend to reflect is, what they tend to be comprised of is situations where there is nothing foreseen in the work schedule, the things that come up either by accident, by act of nature or whatever else goes on.  

     MS. HARE:  Yes.  But Mr. Dingwall, a very large percentage of our work is in that category.  In terms of not being able to predict accurately on any coming weekend how many hot calls we're going to get, how many emergencies, or when there will be a damage to the pipe.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, it seems that with those particular categories, what you've got as the analogy in the agreement with the third-party contractors is an hourly fee rather than a service fee.  

     MR. MILNER:  Yes.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Correct. 

     MR. MILNER:  That's one way to do it, yes.  That's one way in the contract to deal with that.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  In addition to that, there are some defined fees per service such as inspection. 

     MR. MILNER:  That's correct. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Where the contractor's fee is fixed. 

     MR. MILNER:  That's correct.  And what we do to manage those is, our supervisors and managers, they use, you know, whatever is in their best judgment at that time to get (a), the emergency and safety priorities addressed and, then (b), in a cost-effective manner.  Our priorities are really to make sure we're able to address those emergencies and make safe an then we try to get things back up as cost effectively as we can to meet our customers’ needs.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So is the company going to be looking at, in terms of -- let's move away from the emergencies.  Let's move away from the unplanned things. Is the company going to be looking at finding a way to identify and track its costs with respect to the planned services?  

     MR. MILNER:  We're going to be looking at the whole thing, which will take us down that path as well.  

     It's not just -- and I just have to step back.  The

complexity of the work in operations is not just emergencies.  We have seasonality that comes into these factors.  So for example in the winter when there is frost in the ground, it's very expensive to do construction work.  So we try to plan it so we're not doing a lot of work in the wintertime.

     However, in the fall, there's a great demand from our customers to get new services put in, there's furnaces come on and there are more escape calls and that sort of thing that happens.  So we have, in general, a higher demand in the fall for a lot of those services.  This is a seasonality aspect of it.  

     And within the seasonality piece, which Marika was alluding to, you can have it almost hour-by-hour or daily where there are peaks and that's the nature -- it's just the nature of our business. 

     So when we look at it, we have to look at the whole picture and we will carve it down to, you know, project-type work and other stuff that is planned and unplanned, those are the types of things that we're trying to consider in modeling this.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Just so I understand it.  What would be the division in terms of the overall budget for the delineation between planned things and unplanned things?  

     MR. MILNER:  Well, I don't know if I can capture one delineation.  I can tell you that we have program work, for example, where we do work for compliance reasons or to operations and maintenance standards.  So for example we do survey our system for leaks, annually.  We survey it for corrosion and cathodic protection annually.  We check valves annually.  All of those things are planned types of work. 

     When it comes to inspections, you know, to some extent, you can identify that customers are going to be coming on in a particular time of year.  So that's something that you can identify and forecast, but if I can kind of differentiate forecast, planned, to schedule, to dispatch and do the work, it's a degree of complexity that you're actually looking at.  So we can forecast that we're going to have a certain number of inspections in a particular time frame.  The plan to that, we can plan our resources generally to that.  But when it actually comes to scheduling and dispatching, that's where this peak comes and goes.  So that's the complexity that we deal with 

     So what differentiates planned work, work that we know that we, as a company, have identified we have to do, we can schedule that.  We know that work is coming.  That's planned work.  

     It is still sometimes subject to seasonality and other things but that's the only stuff that is really, you know, planned to that degree.  

     When you step back and look at construction types of work, some of that -- those jobs are very customer driven types of things.  So you have a customer need for gas at a particular time and that's really driving the schedule to get us to that particular date.  Sometimes it's something that we can get in front of and plan much better so we can still develop a plan for many of the construction projects.  

     The ones that we really can deal with are the ones that are company driven types of work.  The other stuff sometimes is dependent on permits with municipalities and other things.  So it's a -- it's, every year we have to go through this exercise to try to look at the forecast, our budgeting, then we try to narrow this down an we try to deliver to that budget and those are the types of complexities that we work through to try to get there.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, you mentioned that part of your scheduling is dependent upon such things as permitting.  

     That still gives you a fair bit of lead-time and you've got all of your growth forecasts and system expansion.  So I'm presuming that there is a portion of the budget that relates to planned functions, meaning inspections, system replacement, system expansion and that in addition to that there is a contingent elementary related to the vagaries of season and non-planned matters.  

     MR. MILNER:  Yes, that's true.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  What's the distribution between the two?  

     MR. MILNER:  Between planned and unplanned?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Yes. 

     MR. MILNER:  Or -- basically you're looking at reinforcement and replacement types of activities.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Rather than the activities, sir, I'm looking more to try to get to a dollar value.  

     MR. MILNER:  Really you're talking about capital aspects of our business.  I know that we'll be talking about capital on another panel.  But we could undertake to provide that kind of information. 

     It is all broken down by reinforcement, replacement, and new customer-driven work.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  In the context of your departmental budget, because it's the correlation of the labour to the plan that I'm trying to understand. 

     MR. MILNER:  Yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Can you give me an indication of what your departmental budget is associated with planned activities and what is associated with unplanned activities? 

     MS. HARE:  We don't have that number with us, Mr. Dingwall, but we can get that for you 

     MR. DINGWALL:  So it is ascertainable?  

     MS. HARE:  It is ascertainable, yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Could I have that as an undertaking, please. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J 14.7. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.7:  PROVIDE an indication of what your departmental budget is associated with planned activities and what is associated with unplanned activities 

     MR. MILNER:  If I could just clarify.  For planned work, I don't want to muddy this.  Are we talking about that work like reinforcement, replacement, planned inspection work?  That type of work?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  As well as new construction.  

     MR. MILNER:  Okay.  

 
MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  Now, when we come back here a year from now, give or take, and you'll have a year under your belt to see how the implementation of EnVision has worked, are you going to be tracking things in a fashion which will give us the ability to see how your costs compare to the sub‑contractor costs?  Is that what you're aiming for, in terms of the information that you will be tracking?


MR. MILNER:  Well, I would hope that we have information.  That's not our objective.  Our objective is to drive down costs and use the system to our benefit.  We're looking at other ways to do that, as well.


MR. DINGWALL:  How will we measure if you're doing that?


MS. HARE:  Well, you will see the benefits realization plan, which will show you the benefits that have been achieved from EnVision, and a good percentage of those benefits are because of core field productivity.  So as Enbridge Gas Distribution is becoming more productive, as its contractors are becoming more productive, you will see that reflected in the benefits realization plan.


MR. DINGWALL:  It would seem to me one element of that would be optimization of sub‑contractors, would it not?


MS. HARE:  We do expect the contractors to become more efficient, more productive with the use of EnVision, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  So understanding how Enbridge's costs or specific functions relate to those of the fixed fees the sub‑contractors under would give us an indication of whether you're effectively using the sub‑contractors, would it not?


MR. MILNER:  Again, I'm trying to understand.


MR. DINGWALL:  I know that you mentioned that there are some vagaries around using the contractors to level work and all of that.  What I would like to know is if you're planning on creating, for next year's filing, some determination of what Enbridge's cost for the performance of planned activities and identifiable activities would be and how that compares.


MS. HARE:  No, we weren't planning to have that done.


MR. DINGWALL:  You don't think it would be useful?


MS. HARE:  No.  I don't think it would, actually.


MR. DINGWALL:  In discussions with Mr. Shepherd two days ago, you indicated that 73 employees were being cross-trained in gas fitting and construction; is that correct?


MS. HARE:  Are being cross-trained so they can do both service work and construction maintenance work.  Seventy-three have been trained to date.  There's about another -- about another ‑‑ that represents about a third of those that would be eligible.  And it's a program that was initiated so that we can be more efficient, in terms of responding to a customer's request.


So that previously if, for example, a customer called and -- because they smelled gas, and it turned out it was a problem either with the piping or the meter, typically a construction maintenance work crew would be sent out.  Those would be gas technicians.


If they had to shut the gas off then, the re-light would have to be done by a fitter, which would mean it wasn't done on the same call.


So having people that are cross-trained means that the work can be done by the same people that initially respond, so it's a benefit to the customer in terms of taking care of the situation first time, and of course there are efficiencies in not sending out two separate crews.


MR. DINGWALL:  You mentioned that it is one‑third of the people that currently are involved in the construction function?


MS. HARE:  Not necessarily construction function, but what we call construction maintenance type work.  That is different than the construction that would be doing new pipeline construction.


MR. DINGWALL:  So these individuals have the gas technician certification, but they don't have gas fitter certification?


MS. HARE:  Or the other way around.


MR. DINGWALL:  Or the other way around?


MS. HARE:  Right.


MR. DINGWALL:  But it is the corporate goal to eventually have all 200, approximately, of those people having both designations?


MR. MILNER:  It isn't entirely.  I think that is one of the things that we're looking at.  How many do we really need?


When you look at this, if you staff a crew with all highly skilled, highly multi-skilled people, you're going to pay a higher labour dollar.  And so right now we use a combination of these people on a crew, particularly in construction, so we have labourers and operators and gas technicians or operations technicians now.  And so one of the things that we're doing with our modelling today is to try to determine, generally, where do we need to go with this.


We think this is a great opportunity for us, to help us be more efficient and meet our customer needs.  It's a better thing.  But to what extent do we need to beef up our employee work force, that's something we need to analyze, and we are.  That's part of the modelling work that we're doing now.


MR. DINGWALL:  So you're starting with 73 and you're going to see how that works, and then re-visit it?


MR. MILNER:  That's where we're at.  We have 73.  This will be not just a re-visit this.  I think what we're doing now is we're taking this as a starting point, trying to look at what this model should be, and then we will look at that annually or periodically to assess, Where do we need to go with this?  So that's where we're at with this particular ‑‑


MS. HARE:  Right, but we're not stopping at the 73.  There are more.  Now, it differs by region.  In my region, for example, there are more that are eligible that we do want to be cross-trained as ops-techs.  


MR. MILNER:  Yes.  So it's not ‑‑ we're going to see how this goes.  We're expanding it to make sure that we're addressing the needs within each region.


MR. DINGWALL:  So how many more cross-trained technicians will there be in the test year, in a ballpark number?


MR. MILNER:  Well, ballpark number, probably somewhere between ten and fifteen, roughly.  There will be some new, and we're also expecting some attrition, so we will have to re-train others, train new ones to replace those.


MR. DINGWALL:  It seems to me like you have made quite a significant effort, to date, in looking at what some of the difficulties you currently have are and in beginning to address them from the labour perspective.


MS. HARE:  I'm not sure what you're referring to.


MR. DINGWALL:  In terms of efficiencies.  You mentioned that having to make two service calls to do a repair, and then a re-light.


MS. HARE:  Yes, absolutely.


MR. DINGWALL:  You're going to eliminate the need for two by having cross-trained individuals?


MS. HARE:  Yes.  The whole focus of what we're trying to do is making sure that we're doing the job right the first time and so that we're sending the people with the right skills to do the job with the right equipment, so that it can be done the first time.


MR. MILNER:  In the Province of Ontario, there's two different licences, or there is a licence required for fitters and the gas technician requirement and certification.  They're two different things.


And so when you go outside of our industry or outside of our business, you have fitters or people that are qualified to do service work, but they can't do the gas technician or construction part of that work.  And if I go and look at the construction group, they also all come from areas where they have other certifications and training restrictions.


So it is really sort of a ‑‑ when you look at our organization, it's an opportunity in house to really see how we can optimize those resources and complement the contractor resources that we use, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, I think we have really thoroughly examined this.  Are you going somewhere with it?


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Soon?


MR. DINGWALL:  So, panel, in looking at the forecasted benefits from EnVision for the test year in context of all the efforts that the company has made to cross-train its employees and the rolling out of everything, it seems that -- it seems to me as if your budget is quite conservative and possibly even under-estimating some of the savings that the company will have.  How would you respond to that?


MR. MILNER:  Well, I wouldn't characterize it as conservative, at all.  I think that we've taken a look at where we're at in the rolling out of EnVision.  Some of the things that we've just talked about show you the complexity of actually delivering these types of benefits.


And we have to deal with, you know, putting all of these different initiatives in place to make it work and make it work effectively.  So we have people changes, training that we have to address.  There's technology that we're dealing with, not just the information technology but there are some field technologies that we are trying to employ.  Then there is process changes many and all of those things, when you're changing processes, it's a significant change in the way we do our business.  

     So what we've looked at is, how do we actually drive these things?  And part of the drivers are to put some goalposts out there in terms of where we think we can go.  And how we make it happen comes back to a plan, a benefits realization plan and then execution to that.  So that is something we're trying to prepare at a level that we can actually drive those benefits next year.  

     What we've got in our budget is what we reasonably think we can deliver next year, given the extensive change that we're continuing to drive, that change is not a simple thing to drive.  And we have another change that's going to be come and that is the field force transformation.  So that's another piece of this and just adds to the complexity.  So we believe we're going to get the benefits we put in the budget but that is almost a foundational piece to actually driving the next stage of this.  So I think that answers where we're going with it.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well would it be correct for me to gain the impression from what you just said as there are a lot of unknown factors?  

     MR. MILNER:  Certainly.  There are many unknown factors and, therefore, it requires a rigorous approach.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  And it's the unknown factors that relate to the potential benefits?  

     MR. MILNER:  Yes.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Thompson, do you have an idea of how long your questions will take?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think I indicated 45 minutes originally and I think that's what I will do and I hope to deliver on that estimate. 

     MS. NOWINA:  That would be great.  I think we will take our break for lunch then and return at 1 o'clock. 

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 11:50 a.m. 

    
‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:00 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Good afternoon, please be seated.  Am I to understand that we have a preliminary matter this afternoon?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I'm here to address that preliminary matter.  In discussion with Mr. Thompson, I think he had a suggestion to the Board about the timing of when that matter would be argued.  I'm really in the Board's hands on it and perhaps I would let Mr. Thompson address it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Madam Chair.  We have tentatively scheduled now to deal with the production issue.  I think we did that in anticipation that this panel would have been finished by now, and I know there are other examiners standing by to start in with the legal and regulatory panel.  


So my suggestion is, if it's acceptable to the Board, that we schedule the debate about the document that has been provided after the legal and regulatory panel was finished.  That would appear to me to be an appropriate point to address it, but I'm in your hands on the issue.  


Certainly I would ask that it not be scheduled before this panel is completed.  So it would either be later today or sometime tomorrow, perhaps.


MS. NOWINA:  I think that is fine with us, if it works for Mr. Cass, and for you, Mr. Thompson.  We can do that.


The other intervenors interested in the discussion, I assume that you will be here today or tomorrow, whenever this arises.  So not hearing any objections, we will do it following the legal panel, as you suggested.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madame Chair, is it possible to get an idea of how much time that involves, because, of course, there are some of us interested in the next panel, deferral and variance accounts, which is supposed to go and finish tomorrow?


MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment.


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  So ‑‑


MR. LANNI:  Madam Chair, thank you for a moment of your time.  We have a witness for the deferral accounts panel that flew in today from Boston, and if the legal and regulatory affairs and public affairs begins today but isn't finished today, we would ask the Board if it could kindly accept the deferral and variance accounts panel tomorrow, since we do have an expert witness from out of town, that that begin tomorrow.


MS. NOWINA:  So are you suggesting, Mr. Lanni, that we defer this discussion of Mr. Thompson's issue until after that panel is complete?  I think Mr. Shepherd may be suggesting the same thing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or, Madam Chair, alternatively, one thing we could do is shift legal and regulatory and take that time for this issue, if it's going to take a while.


MS. NOWINA:  Comments?  Mr. Cass?  Mr. Lanni?  Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I guess I would suggest that if the deferral accounts panel is going to bump legal and regulatory, that we then deal with the documents issue at the conclusion of this panel.  And in terms of my submissions, I don't think it's going to take any longer than five to ten minutes, and I suspect Mr. Cass may be relatively brief, as well.


MR. CASS:  My submissions will be relatively brief, Madam Chair.  There is some background that I would need to address.  I would think on the outside half an hour, in total, for me.


MS. NOWINA:  Let me give you some of the Board's thinking on the issue that you're going to talk about, which is the IGUA interrogatory ‑‑ I'm sorry, I don't recall the number, but the one that was requesting ‑‑ thank you.  I see number 6 back there.  That was requesting the information on the EGDI portion of the EI budget.


Let me assume that that's the topic of your discussion.  And we have, I guess, a preliminary view.  I should let you know about that, and that is that in the wording of that interrogatory and the response to it, as well as our subsequent decision that dealt with it, there certainly would be room for interpretation about whether or not that was only intended for O&M and capital, and not other items, such as revenue.  


So discussing whether or not EGDI met the intent of that decision might not be very helpful.  What would be more helpful is to understand what the intervenors need and why they need it and if Enbridge has a problem with supplying that information, and if we can get an undertaking for the information.  Does that ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  That's very helpful, Madam Chair.  I will try to still keep it to 10 to 15 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, do you still need half an hour up front, given that?


MR. CASS:  Perhaps not.  I'm, of course, waiting to hear what Mr. Thompson has to say, but that might well eliminate a lot of the background that I thought I might need to get into.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Then may we complete this panel, and then go on to that item and deal with it, and then determine whether ‑‑ which panel we need to go with next, depending on various timing, both who needs to cross-examine those panels, who has flown in or out or whatever?  We'll deal with this panel and the other item, and then worry about other panels.


So, where are we, Mr. Dingwall?  We've completed hearing your questioning and we're on to Mr. Thompson for this panel, I believe.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 8; RESUMED

Marika Hare; Previously sworn

Jamie Milner; Previously sworn

John Briggs; Previously sworn

Jody Sarnovsky; Previously sworn  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:


MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, first of all, just by way of background, Ms. Sarnovsky, could you provide us with the name of your executive management team leader?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.  It's Mr. Pleckaitis.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And, Ms. Hare, yours?


MS. HARE:  Also Mr. Pleckaitis.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Just in terms of preliminaries here, I would like to get the amounts that are being ‑- I won't use the word "claimed", because Mr. Ladanyi gets upset by it.  How about requested?  Is that neutral enough?


The amounts being requested for operations for the 2006 budget I understand to be $42,480,000; is that correct?


MR. BRIGGS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the amount being requested for strategic and key accounts is, for the 2006 test year, $4,366,000?


MR. BRIGGS:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  For a total of $46,846,000.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. BRIGGS:  Yes, I will take that, subject to check.


MS. HARE:  Excuse me, Mr. Thompson.  You said the amount that's being requested, and the amount that is being requested is $46.5 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, that was one of my points of clarification.  The numbers you testify to in your pre-filed total $46.8 million.  You're requesting $46.5?


MS. HARE:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  It's uncharacteristic of Enbridge to throw away $346,000.  What's the basis for that?


MR. BRIGGS:  The basis for that is we discovered that within Ms. Sarnovsky's budget there was a portion that was not input correctly into the system; hence, why we're requesting the $46.5 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  So the other two numbers, there's errors in there; is that what you're telling me?


MR. BRIGGS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is it an error in operations, an error in strategic and key accounts, or an error in both?  Can I have the breakdown that comprises the 46.5?


MR. BRIGGS:  The error is primarily in strategic key accounts.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if I knocked off the 200 -- well, the 350,000 ‑‑ so key accounts then drops to about $4 million, give or take?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Roughly.  I think it is about 4.1.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.


MS. HARE:  Maybe I should just clarify, Mr. Thompson.  The strategic key accounts is $4.36 million, and Ms. Sarnovsky's evidence speaks to 4.36.


The error that the math isn't correct was only discovered a few weeks ago, and we were advised by regulatory affairs that there is no way we can make a change and ask for 46.8 or change the total bottom-line number at this point.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, there goes my math, but let me just get the other numbers in the ‑‑ on the record.


In terms of the Board‑approved, the Board-approved for operations and strategic key accounts combined was $43 million.  That's for the 2005 test year.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. BRIGGS:  Yes, subject to check, but that was the ADR settlement number 43.0.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And in examining the filed 

evidence, I found the strategic and key accounts 

Board-approved number at 3,649,000, at A6, tab 5, schedule 5, I think it is page 7.  Would you take that subject to check?  

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And by mathematics, that then made the Board-approved number for operations, which I couldn't find in the prefiled at $39,351,000.  Would you take that number subject to check?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  We will take -- I think we need to confirm that number.  What is your source on that?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well I just subtracted the $3,649,000 from the 43 million dollars.  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Just hold on one second, please.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  If you look at CCC number 23 in the 

Board-approved for 2005 column, I think you will find 38.4, for regional operations.  And 3.6 for strategic and key accounts at line 7.1 and 7.2.  So I thought I was more or less on track.  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes.  And that is column 12?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Column -- correct, 12, yes. 

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes.  We accept that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And before you hit me with the new number of 4.1 million for strategic accounts, I had the increase 4,366,000 over 3,649000 at about 19.6 percent, but whatever it is, we can do the math.  It's a significant percentage increase in strategic accounts; fair?  

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That's correct and I believe, as I explained yesterday, there are four staff additions, within the 2006 budget amount.  So if you were to do a 

year-over-year comparison, and actually subtract those positions, you would I think the number I quoted, sorry, on Tuesday was around 2.4 percent increase.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I will come to the justification for it in a second I just wanted to get on the record the percentage increases.  

     And in operations I make the percentage increase over 

Board-approved to be about 7.9 percent.  Would you take that subject to check, Ms. Hare?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  I would take that subject to check.  I'm 

assuming you're comparing that with the 43 million?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I'm comparing 39,351 to the 42,480.  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Okay.  Thank you.  We'll check that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.  And those percentage increases, if we take the whole envelope or the -- these accounts which were rolled up apparently for -- they're rolled up on Exhibit K6.4 into one line item.  The increase is 46 -- sorry 43 million to 46.5 million.  That's requested over Board-approved; fair?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes, that's fair.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And that, I believe is somewhere between eight and nine percent.  Would you take that subject to check?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Subject to check, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the only target that I can find in all of the filed material as budget targets is the 2.1 percent in the budget letter.  Is there any other percentage target or cap in the evidence that you're aware of?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  If I could speak to that 2.1 percent in the budget letter.  I mean, that is a CPI factor.  However there are other drivers within our budget that are definitely more than 2.2 percent, i.e., volume of work and such like that, would cause our budget to be more than 2.2 percent.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well there's nowhere that I could find that management having done a calculation of an adjustment factor -- overall adjustment factor of the type that the Board had used in the prior cases of the type that was used under PBR. 

     Did I miss something?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  No, you did not.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And in the response to IGUA 54, where we asked for the calculation of the adjustment factor, that prevailed under PBR -- and I discussed this with yesterday's panel, I don't intend to go into it today -- a number of the Z factors are identified in that interrogatory response.  The only item I wish this panel to confirm, that none of the alleged Z factors in that response pertains to the operations department or 

the strategic and key accounts department; is that fair? 

     MS. HARE:  Mr. Thompson, we don't have that interrogatory response with us.  If you could just give us a minute, please. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sure. 

     MS. HARE:  IGUA 54, was it?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  IGUA 54, yes.  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Can you give us a moment, please.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Just on the second page, in the last paragraph, I think Ms. Urquhart developed this.  But there are some Z factors identified, DSM costs, legislative regulatory changes, corporate cost allocation, Sarbanes-Oxley, and customer support.  I just wanted to confirm, none of those pertains to the operations department or the strategic and key accounts department; is that fair?  

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.  And so just to get some idea of the activities that would influence, starting first the operations department, I would ask you to turn up CCC, interrogatory response to CCC 25.  This is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 25.  And if you would go to page 17 of 37 of that exhibit.  There's some information there I just wanted to have you look at.  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Mr. Thompson, we don't have the version that has the page numbering on it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, up in the top right-hand corner, it looks like page 6.  It is the customer additions page, which is “Customer additions component of the EMT presentation of December 17, 2004.”   

     MR. BRIGGS:  We have that exhibit number. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  What we see there in terms of customer additions total fiscal 2004, 56,485; calendar 2005, 51,309; and a slight decline in 2006, 49,011; correct?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes.  We confirm that. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that from a customer addition perspective, there is nothing extraordinary to influence the operations department; is that fair?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes.  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then just on the customer and key

accounts activity, these customers are within the ambit of the contract and T-service customers, are they, Ms. Sarnovsky?  That's where we find your constituency. 

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.  That's the focus of my department, that's correct, large-volume commercial and industrial.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And again just looking at the

statistics with respect to the number of contract and 

T-service customers, 2004 to 2006, would you take, subject to check, that in 2004 -- you will find this number at exhibit C 3, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1 -- the total number of contract and T-service customers was about 2715?  

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.  That's correct.  


MR. THOMPSON:  And then moving forward to 2005, they declined to 2704?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then for 2006, you're forecasting an increase of five in that total up to 2,709.


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes, subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so I suggest there is really nothing in the changes of the numbers of customers contributing to any unusual or extraordinary activity in the strategic and key customers' department; is that fair?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  That's fair, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Let me then move from there, if I could, to you, Ms. Hare.  You're looking very content in your new job.


MR. THOMPSON:  But I did want to just take a quick waltz through history to try and, if we could, get some indicators of what is reasonable, in terms of an overall O&M claim.


And what I would ask you to do, if you wouldn't mind, is just turn up -- again, it's CCC 23, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 23.  I just want to get a few numbers on the record that took place while you were in the stressful job that Mr. Hoey now has.


And these numbers are small, but what I wanted to confirm is if we go to Board‑approved at the end of 2002, so that's column 7.  Do you see that?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the total O&M Board‑approved, I make it to be 268.9 million.  I hope I'm reading that number right.  My eyes are not even as good as Mr. Warren's.  Is that what you see? 


MS. HARE:  Yes, that is what I see.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the DSM piece of that showing up in line 4.2 is 10.9.  So I make it that the O&M base, excluding DSM but including corporate cost allocations, was 258 at the end of 2002; is that fair?  Is that your recollection?


MS. HARE:  Yes.  


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then in 2003, we had an agreement on -- an envelope agreement on O&M, and I believe it was in the amount of 270 million, subject to the dispute about the question of ‑‑ I forget what we called that account, but the deficiency --


MS. HARE:  Outsourcing deferral account, I think.


MR. THOMPSON:  OD, outsourcing deferral account.  But would you agree that the envelope amount was about $270 million?


MS. HARE:  What I don't recall is whether that included DSM, or not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Excluding DSM.


MS. HARE:  Excluding DSM, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then we moved into 2004, which was an expedited arrangement where my client certainly consented to an increase in the revenue requirement of 1.8 percent.


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then in 2005, the agreed-upon amount between EGD and the ratepayers, excluding DSM, was $286.5 million? 


MS. HARE:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so just looking at it big picture, from 2002 to 2005, the O&M amounts ‑ and these were subject to agreements between Enbridge and some parties, if not all ‑ increased from 258 to 286.5, excluding DSM but including corporate cost allocations; is that fair?


MS. HARE:  Those are the numbers, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so that's, over three years, a total of $28.5 million, again, excluding DSM but including corporate cost allocations?


MS. HARE:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Or, on average, about 9.5 million a year; is that fair?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then just to compare what is requested in this case on that basis, i.e., excluding DSM but including corporate cost allocations, I would ask you to look at Exhibit K6.4, if the panel has that.


Down at the bottom, in line 25, under column 8, we have the O&M amount, excluding DSM but including corporate cost allocations.  The request is 329.1 versus the 286.5, which is a $42.8 million increase; correct?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, 42.6.  Sorry, I'm misreading that.


And so what you're requesting in this case is about 150 percent greater than what was negotiated and accepted over the three‑year period 2002 to 2005?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And if we take 9-1/2 as the average, it's about 4.6 times the average yearly-negotiated amount.  That's 42.6 divided by 9.5?


MS. HARE:  Those are the numbers, yes, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.


MS. HARE:  Were you looking for a comment on that, though?  I mean, looking at year-after-year increases I don't think tells you the full picture of what is going on.  And you've taken me to the total, and I can actually only speak to the regional operations budget of -- for O&M for 2006.  So I confirmed the numbers.  Those are the numbers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, we can argue what is reasonable and what is this history indicates, but you can appreciate my client will be looking at and using some of those historic numbers as indicators of reasonableness.


Anyway, that's where we're coming from.


MS. HARE:  I would think they have to be looked at in the context of what was going on in each of those years, as well, though.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, there's nothing extraordinary going on in 2006 over 2005 versus what went on in those three years, that I can see.  


MS. HARE:  Well, what we were trying to explain the other day was that some of the increases are not linear, for example, customer additions.  While it is true that we're not adding any more customers in 2006 than we did in the previous few years, at certain points you do have to add staff to be able to service those customer requests.


So in any given year, you might be able to do as much work to service 50,000 customers, but over time it's not 50,000 more.  It becomes 200,000 more or 250,000 more customers.


We also explained about some of the new compliance requirements, and that's set out in our evidence as to why there are increases in the budget.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's move on.  I wanted now to just move to some specific questions about the operations.  And to do this, what you will need is, first of all, K12.3, which was a document that Mr. Shepherd had some questions on.  It's entitled "Operations and Strategic Key Accounts Head Count Analysis".


You will also need CCC No. 121, which was again referred to by other questioners, page 2.  And, finally, you will need CCC 25, in the same December EMT presentation that I referenced.  It's page 25 ‑‑ sorry, page 26 of 37.  Since you don't have the pages, it is entitled "Head Count 2006 Budget Versus 2005 Estimate".


MS. HARE:  Excuse me, Mr. Thompson.  Could we just re-cap what we're going to need?  K12.3?


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  This has got head counts for --


MS. HARE:  Right.  CCC 121, CCC 25?


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MS. HARE:  And the last one?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's it.  CCC 25 is the head count budget versus estimate page in that slide presentation.

     MS. HARE:  Thank you.  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Mr. Thompson, what page as that in CCC 25, please? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I have it as page 26 of 37 entitled 

“Headcount, 2006 budget versus 2005 estimate.”  

Are we all on the same pages?  

     MS. HARE:  We're organized now.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.  What I am trying to find out is, is what changes in headcount in operations and strategic accounts occurred between December 17 when this budget was presented and the final version of the budget.  

     So that's what I'm trying to find out.  And perhaps I could start with what was presented -- well, let me start with K 12.3.  

     You're showing, on that exhibit, under regular FT headcount 910 in 2005, and 1023 for the budget; correct?  

     MS. HARE:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And as of December 17, you're showing for operations the budget of 1001 in the 2006 regulatory budget of 1003; correct?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes, correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so at that point, headcount was quite flat.  My understanding is, from going through this stuff, that in that headcount number in the December 17 presentation of 1001, we have included the storage operations heads.  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes, that's correct.  There were 50 individuals there.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so then if you look at Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 121, in footnote 7 -- this is on page 2 -- it appears to indicate that there were about 45 storage operations heads.  Is that -- 

     MR. BRIGGS:  It was actually 50 in the 2006 budget and 45 in the 2005.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But so looking at the -- okay.  So what was it in 2006?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  50 bodies for storage. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Fifty, okay.  So if we deduct 50 from 1003 in the Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 5, we’d get an operations and strategic and key accounts headcount of 953 as of that point this time; am I correct?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes, your math is correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so then coming forward to Mr. Shepherd's exhibit, Exhibit K 12.3, that number appears to me to be now 1023; am I right?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so 70 positions or heads were added between the budget of December 17th and the final budget; right?  That's the math.  

     MR. BRIGGS:  That is the math the way it stands right now, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so tell me what prompted the addition of 70 heads between the presentation in December and the final budget.  

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. HARE:  Are you looking for reasons why we added?  Or do we get back into the discussion we had the other day -- I'm not sure this is an apples to apples comparison:  The one case we're showing positions, the other case it is headcount.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well it is headcount in the slide presentation.  I thought I just went through all of that.  And it's headcount in Mr. Shepherd's exhibit. 

     MS. HARE:  Just to correct.  K 12.3 is not Mr. Shepherd's exhibit.  It is the company's exhibit. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.  Well introduced by Mr. Shepherd, then is what I meant.  I thought I was just told they were apples to apples.  

MS. HARE:  No, CCC 121 that we discussed the other day is based on positions and there is a difference between positions and headcount.  I don't know what the budget was based on.  Do you, Mr. Briggs? 

     MR. BRIGGS:  That was just a snapshot in time.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well the snapshot in time is indicating 

headcount to headcount, that the headcount increased between the budget presentation in December and the final budget is 70 counted heads.  

     Now, I would like to know what was said by the executive management team to prompt the people preparing this budget to go away and come back with 70 more heads in the headcount.  Can you help me?  

     MS. HARE:  I don't recall anything being said by the 

executive management team.  What we did -- this is a snapshot in time in December.  As we better understood the requirements for 2006, there was an adjustment.  It's an iterative process in terms of looking at the requirements.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it appears that the people requirements increased between the budget presentation at December and whenever the final budget was finalized.  

     First of all, is that correct?  The people requirements increased from December to when the budget was finalized. 

     MS. HARE:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what rationale -- well, did they increase because something happened when it was presented to the executive management team?  This is the -- if we look at the process letter, this is more or less the anticipated end of the line.  

     MS. HARE:  A budget is not produced top down.  It is

produced by the people in charge of the business units.  

     So the, for example, in central region we would have looked at what headcount we need to run the business.  There were certainly no direction from anybody on the executive management team to do anything different than what we've done in previous, which is identify the work load and find the appropriate headcount to be able to deliver on those commitments.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well was the executive management team, for some reason, unhappy with the headcount of 1003 in the regulatory budget in December, 953 of which related to operations and strategic and key accounts.  

     MS. HARE:  Mr. Thompson, there was no directive from the executive management team to do anything.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So what did they do, just say nothing?  

     MS. HARE:  Well, I wasn't at the meeting, but certainly being responsible for my region's budget, we would have looked at, ourselves, what headcount we need and it's then approved by the executive management team.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So you just did this all on your own, you increased it by 70 heads?  Nothing prompted it. 

     MS. HARE:  Collectively all of the managers that are in central region, yes, would have decided what their requirements were, and put it together.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But after December 17th.  What was the 

December 17th presentation, some sort of trial run?  

     MS. HARE:  I don't know what it was.  I wasn't there.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Was anybody there?  

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  No.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So ...

     All right.  Let me move -- well, is there any way I can put a dollar figure on that 70 heads or is that something that can be reasonably estimated?  

     MS. HARE:  We believe that's going to be covered by the correction to K6.1 that we're going to be submitting.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  The panel this morning, in reply evidence -- I don't know if you heard it -- but to a person today said they were totally unaware of any anticipated transition to incentive regulation.  Were you folks here when they were asked that question and they all said not aware?  Or words to that effect. 

     MS. HARE:  I wasn't here. 

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  I was not here. 

     MR. BRIGGS:  Nor was I. 

     MR. MILNER:  No.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, with the panel yesterday, I took them through the strategic plans of Enbridge Inc., components of them related to EGD, in particular, as well as the Enbridge Inc. annual report for 2004 pertaining to the expectations of Mr. Daniel and the transition to incentive regulation.


Did you folks either hear that or have an opportunity to read it in the transcript?


MS. HARE:  No.


MS. SARNOVSKY:  No, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  Well, have you read, prior to appearing here today, the Enbridge Inc. strategic plans for 2003 and 2004?  Are these documents that would find their way down to the line budgeting level?


MS. HARE:  These are documents that I have seen in the past, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  What about the other panel members?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Same for me.


MR. BRIGGS:  Yes.


MR. MILNER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you read them?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you read the EI annual report?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.


MR. MILNER:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So if you've read them, then you will be aware that Mr. Daniel indicated, in each of those documents, Enbridge's ‑‑ Enbridge Gas Distribution's desire to pursue an incentive regulation model for implementation by 2007?


MS. HARE:  Mr. Thompson --


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you recall reading those passages?


MS. HARE:  Yes, and I do know that Mr. Daniel is a very big proponent of incentive regulation based on his experience with Enbridge Pipelines.  It is something that he has challenged Enbridge Gas Distribution to do for a number of years.


But his model of incentive regulation would be one that is lighter handed, that allows the company the opportunity to find efficiencies which are translated both to the customer and to the shareholder, and it's been somewhat of a frustrating experience that that hasn't occurred in Ontario.


Having said that, as you may know, I was involved this last fall in the Natural Gas Forum submissions on incentive regulation, and you will also recall that the company was rather cautious in its submission, saying that we would be in favour of incentive regulation, depending on the parameters, not necessarily saying incentive regulation is the way to go.


So I'm not sure that it's true that we're getting ready for incentive regulation.  In fact, I'm quite sure it wasn't sure when this budget was struck.


MR. THOMPSON:  What I was leading to, and I will ask each of you this question, was:  Were there any communications to you from your executive management team leaders to, in effect, re-think your budgeting in the context of a transition to incentive regulation?


MS. HARE:  No, Mr. Thompson.  In fact, at the time that the budget was struck, we didn't know the outcome of the Natural Gas Forum or what the Board's views would be on incentive regulation.  That came out, I believe it was, March or the end of March.  I'm not sure of the time lines, but it was certainly after we filed this application.


MR. THOMPSON:  I quite agree.  And the attitude of Mr. Daniel, without knowing where the Board was headed, was as expressed in the strategic plans that I directed your witness panel to yesterday, which suggested the expectations were an incentive regulation model by January 1, 2007.


But apparently none of that filtered down to your level.  That's what I'm taking from your evidence.  Am I understanding you correctly?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's then move to just another topic.  In terms of operations, and I think Mr. Shepherd touched on this, but the capital spending amounts and the sensitivity of the operations budget to capital planning, capital spending.


I would assume, since a large piece of the operations budget is contractors, there must be some sensitivity between capital spending on expansions, for example, and the budget you have for contractors' costs.  Am I right or am I wrong?


MS. HARE:  Sorry, not all contractors' costs are capital.  Some are O&M.  It depends on the work that the contractors are doing for us.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But in this Exhibit K12.3, and maybe it is in your pre-filed evidence, I thought you somewhere said the bulk of the expenses and operations were salaries and that they were at a certain level, and then the next significant portion of them were contractors' costs.


MS. HARE:  That's correct.


MR. BRIGGS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's in, I'm sorry, Exhibit A6, tab 5, schedule 1.


Salaries and expenses were 23,669.  I'm looking at page 7 of 8.  And "external services (contractors)" were 13,870,000; right?


MR. BRIGGS:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So am I right that if the expansion plans were modified, those contractor costs would either go up or down, depending on whether you were increasing your expansion plans or decreasing your expansion plans?


MR. BRIGGS:  Mr. Shepherd, this is strictly the O&M portion of those contractor expenses.  System expansion would be -- sorry, Mr. Thompson, would be un-capitalized.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, but would the O&M portion go up?  What's the sensitivity of the number?


MS. HARE:  It wouldn't be affected by the system expansion projects.  This is work that's been forecast needs to be done, that would be included in -- under operation and maintenance expenses.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it is only the capitalized portion that gets affected; is that what you're saying?


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry?


MR. THOMPSON:  It's only the capitalized portion of contractor services that gets affected by changes in expansion plans?


MR. MILNER:  The only link --


MR. THOMPSON:  I find that confusing, but go ahead.


MR. MILNER:  The only link that I can think of is that if we had more customers, we'd do more inspections, but that is a modest, you know, change or implication to the O&M.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, in terms of what happened after the December 17 presentation of the budget, just on the capital side, Ms. Hare, while you're here, if you could turn up this same exhibit, CCC ‑‑ sorry, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16.


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  At pages 59 and 60, this appears to be a memo from you to -- I think, to Tom Ladanyi, but I ...

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  An e‑mail.


MS. HARE:  But maybe I should say, Mr. Thompson, that I will be on that capital panel, so you could pose the question to me on that panel, or you can give me warning now what you're going to ask me.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, it fits into context here, and I won't take long with it.


It appears that I'm looking at the ‑‑ on page 59, it appears this was dated February the 18th --


MS. HARE:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- 2005.


MS. HARE:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then you're sending something up to Arunas Pleckaitis, who is your EMT leader?


MS. HARE:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then there's a bunch of other people.  Are they just people in your department that are involved in this?


MS. HARE:  The other general managers are listed here.  My sales and delivery manager is listed, as is the sales and delivery manager from eastern region and the Niagara region, and my construction manager.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the subject of this is 2006 system expansion, so this is after the December 17th 

presentation --


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- to EMT; correct?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the substance of this is essentially coming up with another 26 million of system expansion; fair?


MS. HARE:  Well, the substance was the fact that we looked at what other opportunities there were for system expansion, and I was advising Mr. Ladanyi that we would be making an amendment to the capital budget, if the proposals that were put forward by the people in the regions were accepted by the executive management team.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And if you go over to page 60, you say: 

"As shown by this table, the customer-related capital is already aggressive."


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  That was in reference to the first budget?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then you're adding 26 million to that and suggesting the total should be $168 million; is that fair?


MS. HARE:  That's fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And what prompted that?  What prompted you to go away and come up with another $26 million of system expansion?  Was that something transmitted to you by Mr. Pleckaitis or by others, from people ‑‑ others higher up in the order than you?


MS. HARE:  No.  That was prompted by a strategic planning meeting that we had, I believe it was in January, that was attended by the senior management team.


And during that strategic planning session, there was discussion, as there normally would be at a strategic planning session, about growth opportunities and expansion and it was suggested by the people at that meeting, and I was one of them, as was Mr. Milner, that there is an opportunity to see if we can't expand to communities that presently do not have gas.  But we've been getting increasing requests from customers in those communities for natural gas.  

     And so what came out of that meeting was, a “to do”, so to say, that I was to coordinate on behalf of the other general managers what opportunities there were for system expansion.  Because the most significant ones were in central region, I volunteered to coordinate that.  

So after that meeting, I went and spoke to my sales and delivery manager and the construction manager, and these are the people that are closest to the customer, and asked them, What opportunities are there?  And that's what led to this e-mail.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, can you just -- is there anything in the record in writing about this strategic planning session that you've just described?  

     MS. HARE:  I'm not sure.  It wouldn't have been anything filed from regional operations.  I'm not sure.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Could you just tell me who was there?  

     MS. HARE:  The senior management team of Enbridge Gas 

Distribution. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That would be the EMT leaders. 

     MS. HARE:  That would be EMT, plus the regional general managers, plus directors.  There may have been a few other invited people, such as, for example, the manager of strategic planning was obviously there.  My recollection is that there were about 30 people at this session.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is there any written record of what happened at this meeting that you're aware of that you could produce so we could see what went on? 

     MR. MILNER:  Mr. Thompson, I believe you asked if there was anything in the record and I believe Mr. Schultz talked about that on the policy panel, about strategic planning sessions. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I meant the e-mails or minutes of the meeting.  Is there anything that you can produce that would help us understand what prompted this meeting and what was said?  

     MS. HARE:  Well, what prompted the meeting -- this was a regular strategic planning session.  This was something the company does on an ongoing basis.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is there something in writing that could be produced to describe what was discussed and the rationale for the discussion?  

     MS. HARE:  I'm sure there were things that we have, for example, the agenda.  But the company's position always was that strategic planning documents should not be disclosed to the Board, and I don't know what the company's position is in that regard at this point.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, perhaps we could leave it this way:  Would you undertake to determine what documents are available with respect to this meeting? 

     MS. HARE:  You see, Mr. Thompson, my difficulty is that you're asking me to produce something that probably should have been asked of the O&M policy panel when Mr. Schultz was present.  These aren't my documents to produce.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you were at the meeting. 

     MS. HARE:  I was at the meeting so I would have an agenda and if there were any handouts, but they're not documents that I produced.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, they're available to the company.  I'm asking the company to undertake to see what is available and then advise if they object to producing it what is available.  Could I have that undertaking?  

     MR. LANNI:  Madam Chair, if I may just ask for your indulgence.  

     The last series of questions have been with regard to policy issues that were addressed last week and capital budget system expansion type issues that will be addressed the week following next week.  

     And I'm just wondering if, in the interests of efficiency, maybe we can restrict the questioning to operations -- O&M budget and have those other questions not regarding O&M to be dealt with on those other panels.  Then that panel might be better constituted to answer that question from Mr. Thompson.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Can we deal with things one at a time.  In terms of the request for an undertaking, the way Mr. Thompson just phrased it, could that undertaking be produced?  Would you like Mr. Thompson to rephrase it?  

     MS. HARE:  Yes, please.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  It was an undertaking from the company to ascertain what documents are available with respect to the strategic planning session that you've described that would help us understand what went on, and then advise whether the company has any objections to producing those documents.  

     In other words, describe what is available to us and whether you object to producing it and the reasons why.  

     MS. HARE:  Yes, we can do that.  

     MR. LANNI:  If I can provide some clarification, Madam Chair, Members of the Board.  

     I think we can tell you right now that the company will object to having those documents produced.  That's the second portion of that undertaking.  I think this panel will and can go back and determine whether or not they might be able to provide some indication of what those documents were.  And I think that is the response that this panel will give.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Let's give it an undertaking number. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Undertaking J14.8. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.8:  FOR the company to ascertain what documents are available with respect to the strategic planning session described
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will just wait until we see the undertaking response and follow up at that time.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Now, Mr. Thompson, in terms of Mr. Lanni's concerns about the line of questioning, can you draw a link between your questions on the capital expansion and the area that this panel is covering, which is the operations and operating expense of the operations?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Was there any discussion at the strategic planning meeting about costs other than capital?  

     MS. HARE:  I actually -- the discussion was about growth.  The discussion was about our strategic objectives.  So we would have discussed sort of looking down the road, would have looked at -- we would have talked about LNG opportunities.  We would have talked about what direction the company should be going.  We would have talked about customer satisfaction.  We would have talked about the employee work-force model.  It wasn't about capital costs.  

     It was about the direction of the company over the next five years.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So it is broader in scope than simply capital?  

     MS. HARE:  I'm suggesting it wasn't capital at all.  It was broad in scope and it was, directionally, where should the company be going. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it has O&M implications?  

     MS. HARE:  Well, I would say everything we do has O&M implications and capital implications, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Fine.  I will, with that Madam Chair, just wait until the undertaking has been responded to and perhaps pursue it at that time, if that's satisfactory.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I don't think that addresses all of Mr. Lanni's concerns.  Does it, Mr. Lanni?  

     MR. LANNI:  No.  I think that does.  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  It does.  All right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  My final questions, panel, is just with respect to your two departments.  

     There was some discussion this morning in the reply questions about spending amounts that exceed Board-approved budget sums.  I don't know if you heard that or not.  

     I think the questioner misstated IGUA's concern.  They're not suggesting all spending in excess of Board-approved amounts is inappropriate.  What we are concerned with is where the company plans, before the year begins, to spend more than the Board-approved amount.  So I just want to ask each of Ms. Sarnovsky and Ms. Hare:  First of all, the Board-approved amounts we mentioned at the outset here, I think, were $43 million in total, about $39,400,000 for operations and about $3.6 million for strategic and key accounts.  Have I got those numbers approximately correct?  

     MS. SARNOVSKY:  3.6 for strategic and key accounts, yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  3.6, yes, and 39.4 for operations?  Is that fair, Ms. Hare?  That's what is showing in -- is that okay?  

     MS. HARE:  Yes, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And my first question is: Were those the numbers that internally became your budget, if I can call it, targets at the outset of the year?  

     [Witness panel confers]

MS. HARE:  In total, $43.6, so very close.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, so before the year began, the estimate was increased ‑‑ well, the 2005 estimate internally was 43.6?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  How was that distributed between OPS and strategic and key accounts?


MS. HARE:  It's as shown.  It's as shown on this table.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, sorry.  I didn't have that in front of me.  Can you just give me the numbers, please?


MS. HARE:  39.7 for regional operations, and 3.9 ‑‑ I can't read it, either.


MS. SARNOVSKY:  3.9.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that, internally, do I understand that -‑ I don't think you will need to turn this up, but in IGUA No. 6, there are a number of items to reconcile the Board-approved amount and the corporate budget amount, and one of the line items shows other O&M expenses of $3.1 million.


I think you're telling me 600,000 of that was for operations and key accounts.  In other words, by the time it went up to the board of directors, somebody added 600,000 to the spending plan?


MS. HARE:  Are you talking about the spending plan being the ADR number of $43.0 million?


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.


MS. HARE:  But that was based on a fiscal period, and this now is based on a calendar period.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is that the explanation?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that in your particular department on a calendar-year basis, the internal numbers adjusted for calendar year were consistent with the settlement agreement?


MR. BRIGGS:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in the context of those adjusted targets, did each department come in under target, or was there ...

     MR. BRIGGS:  That is our goal for the end of the year.  That is our 2005 forecast number that we are trying to strive for.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you're still working towards those targets?


MR. BRIGGS:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And do you expect to achieve them at this time?  I know this is ‑‑


MS. HARE:  For operations we do, yes.


MR. BRIGGS:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And, Ms. Sarnovsky?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.  Same for strategic and key accounts.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in your particular departments, there are no corporate cost allocations?  At least that is the way I read the schedule.


MS. HARE:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so do you have any interaction with Enbridge Inc. people, at all, or are these departments "stand‑alone" departments?


MR. MILNER:  I think we have the odd interaction with Enbridge Inc. people, and I would just suggest it's in the labour relations arena, primarily.


MR. THOMPSON:  But it's not significant to warrant a corporate cost allocation?  That's what I'm reading into all of this; is that fair?


MS. HARE:  That's fair.


MR. BRIGGS:  That's fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Adams.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Panellists, I hope to be brief.


I have a couple of questions for, I believe it is Ms. Hare, but just because of -- following up on your evidence in‑chief.


In your direct examination, when you were asked to comment on the factors underlying budget, you gave some examples.  And the first example you gave was the issue of moving meters from inside to outside.


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Do you recollect that?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, a couple of questions in this area relate to this meter movement question.


If I understand correctly, it was a historic practice to routinely install meters on the inside of buildings; is that correct?


MR. MILNER:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  And when did you stop doing that on a routine basis?


MR. MILNER:  Well, after natural gas ‑‑ excuse me, after natural gas arrived.  Prior to about 1960, we used manufactured gas.  Actually, it was in the late '50s that natural gas was brought here.


That gas, the manufactured gas, was wet gas and if it got into meters outside, it would freeze and cause problems.  So what we used to do is put those things inside and that would prevent the meters from freezing.  So that's the historic picture with what we used to do with meters.


Now, there are other reasons that you may put meters inside, but that's the historic practice.


MR. ADAMS:  So in some ways there is an analogy between the issue with inside meters, or at least some of them, relative to the cast-iron mains replacement, in the sense that they were old technologies reflecting conditions that the utility was operating at a previous point in time?


MR. MILNER:  Yes.  There's been a number of advances over the years.  When we started to bring meters outside, for example, we had to put temperature correction factors, and so on, with the meters.  And there weren't those types of meters available initially, so we continued to use different things, like put meters inside, even for a time period after that.


So, yes, you know, moving or replacing cast-iron will allow us to bring meters outside.


MR. ADAMS:  With the cast-iron program, the inventory of cast-iron, the location of the cast-iron meters – cast- iron mains, is well established.  I haven't seen similar tracking for this inside meter issue.  


Are there particular zones on your system that are affected by this?


MR. MILNER:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.


MR. MILNER:  Generally, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Do you have an inventory of the meters that are inside versus outside?


MR. MILNER:  Not specifically.


MR. ADAMS:  How many of these meters do you move a year?


MR. MILNER:  I'm just trying to think off the cuff.  I'm ‑‑ it would be related to our replacement program, and I'd have to check.  But you're talking about order of magnitude -- I'm just going to say you're into somewhere in around hundreds to thousands, in that neighbourhood.


MR. ADAMS:  Am I right in understanding that this is primarily driven by the cast-iron main replacement, this meter movement question?


MS. HARE:  Not necessarily.  I used it as an example of a customer request, because some customers don't ‑‑ because they work during the day or don't want to schedule the appointment or some just don't like letting somebody into their home, ask for their meter to be moved outside.


So I was giving that as an example of customer-driven work.


MR. MILNER:  That's the example.  And there are other -- many other reasons why you might want to move meters outside.  One is just strictly a cost of meter reading and access to our plant.


MR. ADAMS:  Where I'm going with this is, with the cast-iron meter -‑ with the cast-iron main replacement -- sorry.  With the cast-iron main replacement, there's an end in sight, I mean, and there's maybe going to be some debate as to when that end ‑‑ what's the appropriate end point for completely cleaning out the cast-iron mains and the bare- steel replacement.


But is there any end in sight that we should anticipate?  We've been hearing for years about this meter movement problem, and it's been a budgetary item.  Are we going to get relieved of this at some point?


 MR. MILNER:  It will be far less significant.  As I said, the technology changed over some time.  So you had cast-iron, and then you had -- continued meters that were inside meters, so not temperature compensated.  And in time, I would see that many of those would get moved out, as well.


MR. ADAMS:  So when the cast-iron mains replacement is completed, what kind of savings are you anticipating, in terms of operations budgets, reductions, attributable to a lower intensity of work with respect to moving these meters around?


MR. MILNER:  I guess where we really wanted to focus on the ins to outs was we do have a number of those.  And many of them, it's a driver of work and costs.  And there still will be a number of them post cast iron.  

     I don't know the exact number that we would have, but, yes, it would dwindle down over time.  In the meantime, costs would still be incurred for people that want those meters moved out or where we want them moved out.  So to actually put a dollar amount on that, I couldn't really tell you at this point.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Can you give us any historical tracking what has been the trend, say, since 2003 as to the costs that you've incurred for meter inside moved outside.   So we can see the 2003 through the 2006 proposal.  The number of units or costs associated, something that quantifies the point that Ms. Hare was raising in her examination-in-chief.  

     MS. HARE:  I'm not sure if we track it by units, but we’d would take that as an undertaking that we would see what we can provide you to provide some historical data.  

     MR. ADAMS:  And if you could include in that undertaking as well any comments with respect to the anticipated trend into the future, that would be appreciated. 

     MS. HARE:  Yes.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Can I ask for an undertaking number. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J14.9. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J14.9:  TO Provide historical tracking SINCE 2003 REGARDING costs incurred for MOVING AN INSIDE meter outside

     MR. ADAMS:  This is a relatively minor item, but in the -- there's been a couple of comments with respect to a corrosion issue related to ground voltage associated with the TTC. 

Do I understand this is a fairly new discovery?  

     MR. MILNER:  No.  

     MR. ADAMS:  No?  This is a long-standing problem?  

     MR. MILNER:  What's new is that there's technology that will allow us to try to pinpoint and better understand where the stray current is coming from.  And it will help identify the level of protection that we have on our system and what we need to do to improve that.  

     So, that's the -- that's what's new in this.  It is really some technology.

      The other thing that is new is that with some new information, we found fault and problems on some of our underground plants that we didn't expect, and one of the examples is a 30-inch line that crosses the Don River and it's a pretty significant supply.  

     So, that caused us to try to understand this problem a lot more.  Not just that, but there are some other information, other faults that we also found this past year.  And that's caused us to really bring our attention to it.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Is there any prospect to recover costs against the TTC for damage to your system caused by their ground voltage problems?  

     MR. MILNER:  I think at this time it is very premature to really look at cause.  You know, is it the TTC?  Is it the coating that is on the pipe itself?  Is it the other plant that's crossing us?  We use the TTC as an example because that is a very well-known point where stray current comes from.  It jumps on to anything.  It can jump on to our plant or other plants as well.  And where it jumps off is where you run into, you know, your corrosion problems.  

     So actually tracing that right back to the specific fault in the TTC system or fault in our plant, it's pretty difficult -- has been difficult in the past to do.  So we want to understand really the root causes here before we make any determination of where we're going to go with it.  

     MR. ADAMS:  So at this time you're not looking for any recovery against the TTC?  

     MR. MILNER:  At this point we want to understand where it's coming from, first, and then root cause.  You know, again, is it a condition of our plant?  So it's really premature to say, you know, we're going to go after one specific party.  In the past, we've collaborated on trying to improve systems.  So we would find a particular fault, we would talk with the TTC, and they would make some changes to their system and, you know, it was sort of a collaborative effort to try to resolve issues, because one doesn't happen without the other.  There seems to be some kind of break in the coating, you know, that becomes, you know, our maintenance and installation and history and all of that sort of thing. 

     So, it's something that we will have to look at as we analyze that and really see where we go with it.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Thanks.  Just one final, again, minor item for clean up.  This relates to Exhibit 12.3.  There's an item there -- there's a line item there for donations and memberships, relatively small numbers.  I just wanted to confirm that there is no overlap between the amounts shown here and amounts shown in Energy Probe Interrogatory 89.  

     MS. HARE:  We will just get that interrogatory.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay. 

     MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, the number again?  

     MR. ADAMS:  89. 

     MS. HARE:  89.  I'm sorry for the delay but this wasn't an interrogatory that was prepared by our panel --  

     MR. ADAMS:  No.  

     MS. HARE:  -- so we have not looked at it before.  

     MR. ADAMS:  It's an interrogatory that will be addressed by another panel, related to any financial relationships between EGD and intervenors in this case.  I just wanted to confirm that there is no overlap.  

     MS. HARE:  The only overlap that I could see is that we might be invited to the same event, but other than that, no.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  

Mr. Millar, do you have questions for this panel?  

     MR. MILLAR:  No, thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Lanni, would you like to do your re-direct?  

     MR. LANNI:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  

     RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. LANNI:

     MR. LANNI:  I have two questions.  The first is on a very fine point.  

     A question was asked by Mr. Thompson with regard to Exhibit 1, tab 11, schedule 4, which contains a budget letter that I'm not sure the panel had the benefit of having in front of them.  So I would just like to turn their attention to it.  

     The panel took, subject to check, and agreed to some discussion that was around the 2.1 percent figure.  I would just like to have the panel review that portion of the budget letter that speaks to the 2.1 percent, and clarify their understanding of what is comprised within that figure.  

     And, I guess, what were your instructions?  

     MR. BRIGGS:  This was our instruction.  I think I commented at the beginning that the 2.1 percent for CPI, that is definitely a driver within generating a budget.  However, we do have other items that caused us to go over that 2.1 percent, and in accordance with the budget letter, I mean, this is approved, certain extraordinary items would be reviewed and passed up to our EMT member.


MR. LANNI:  I guess what I will ‑‑ I would like to get a better understanding from you is does that 2.1 percent figure -- is it solely comprised of the CPI, or are there other factors there involved, as well?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, this is certainly a leading question, in my submission.  You got his answer by way of explanation.  I submit that that question is improper and I object to it.


MR. LANNI:  Fair enough.  If I can take you down the road on another question, there was a lot of discussion over the last couple of days over your testimony with regard to head count and it being a driver for your O&M budget.


Given that your evidence, pre-filed and interrogatories, do not contain virtually any references to head count, I'm just wondering if you can clarify your understanding of how the head count fits in with the O&M budget for regional operations and strategic and key accounts.


MS. HARE:  Well, I think the point that we were trying to make is that the budget for operations is driven by the work that's expected, that's forecast for the next year.  That's driven by units of work that's forecast.


Some units of work we are in control of, because we have, for example, an understanding of how many valves will be inspected, what the corrosion program is like, the leak survey program.  So that is all program work that needs to be done, but we know in advance how many units will be done.  We know, for example, the number of government inspections of meters, and those then are all translated into dollars.


But then the actual head count, what we do on an ongoing basis is look at how that work would be accomplished, whether it would be done with our own staff, with our own crews, or contractors.  So we actually budget by dollar based on the expected work that has to be done and not by head count.


MR. LANNI:  Madam Chair, thank you very much.  Those are our questions in reply.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Lanni.  

Mr. Sommerville has a question.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just very briefly.  Mr. Milner, are you the person in your organization who is responsible for determining the nature of and the frequency of compliance kinds of inspections?


MR. MILNER:  Well, our engineering department sets the standards that we have ‑‑ that we execute to.  So for my region, my execution, I'm responsible to deliver according to that.


So engineering will do a quality acceptance inspection, and they use that information to determine whether organizationally we're in compliance.  We get reports to make sure that we are able to manage that and ensure we're in compliance.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And when you talk about compliance, what compliance are you referring to?  Is it compliance with specific government regulations, TSSA regulations, or is it compliance with sort of prevailing industry or engineering standards, or both?


MR. MILNER:  Yes.  The short answer is both, but the way that we develop our company standards is with industry trends and the regulatory codes and standards, and in many cases we're on committees that help to shape those; right?


So our standards, the way I would characterize them is they meet or exceed the existing codes, and then that is what, as a region, regional operations, we deliver to.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And is it according to that kind of attention, that is, compliance with those kinds of standards, is that how you kind of plan your year's work, is to accomplish what is effectively an industry standard for that particular kind of review or inspection?


MR. MILNER:  On the compliance side of our business, yes.  We plan to comply.  We plan our work that way.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Lanni, do you need to re-direct on that basis?


MR. LANNI:  No.


MS. NOWINA:  We will adjourn now for our afternoon break and return at 2:45.  Thank you very much, panel.  You're excused.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:30 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 2:45 p.m. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Cass, or Mr. Thompson.  Would one of you like to start the discussion on this matter?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I suppose I probably should, Madam Chair, having regard to the remarks you made earlier today. I will try to be as brief as I can.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  What we're seeking is a direction that the entire corporate budget for EGDI for 2005 be produced in response to IGUA number 6, and the Board's ruling with respect to that particular interrogatory.  

     Mr. Cass is quite right, that the question posed and questions posed to interrogatory number 6 arose in conjunction with my client's scrutiny of the O&M expenses and the capital budget, and we asked, in subparagraph (b) of the interrogatory, that copies of all communications from EGD's management to EGD's board of directors be produced and we asked to include in the documents to be produced copies of any presentations made by EGD management to EGD's board of directors after June 17th, 2004 pertaining to EGD's budget for 2005, including the O&M expenses budget and the capital budget for 2005 contained in the 

Board-approved settlement proposal in the RP-2003-0203 proceedings.  

     The focus at that time was O&M and capital, but it's not to suggest that the documents are not relevant to other matters in issue in this case.  And I submit to you that the entire corporate budget for 2005 should be produced for the following reasons.  

     First, Enbridge Gas Distribution is essentially a pure utility.  Its entire corporate budget should be reasonably consistent and compatible with the Board-approved budget in all respects:  Revenues, expenses, earnings, capital plans, risk assessment and so on.  

     I submit to you what an Ontario-regulated pure utility does, in terms of responding to a Board-approved revenue requirement, is relevant to the integrity of the entire regulatory process.  

     I submit the Board should know and parties should know what the corporation does after the Board and others act on their representations with respect to facts and the agreements that they make with other parties before this board.  If for example, the revenues in this corporate budget materially exceed those that are reflected in the ADR agreement and the Board's approval thereof, the Board should know that.  And parties should know that, because those items, in my submission, go to the whole issue of the reliability of the company's projections in the context of a prospective test year rate case.  

     Revenues are not immune from disclosure.  This issue has been discussed in prior board decisions and I will just give you a reference to one of them, which is -- you can find at tab 1 in the IGUA evidence this is the Board's decision in RP-2001-0032 proceeding.  It's dated December 13, 2002.  It's in paragraph 6.2.18.  The section discussing the disclosure obligations on the utility.  And in this paragraph the Board stated:   

“Likewise a utility’s obligation to disclose its plans for the test year to the Board is not subordinate to the requirement of timely disclosure to securities regulators.  Parties dealing with regulated utilities, such as ECG, should be aware that regulated utilities have an obligation to disclose information to its regulator that an unregulated business could retain in confidence.”  

     So the notion mentioned the other day by Mr. Cass I believe it was, it might have been Mr. Ladanyi, that revenues would be disclosed and this would violate securities provisions, Securities Act provisions, in my submission, does not make the documents not producible.  It may justify a claim for confidence, which the company is free to make and we would not oppose it.  

     But the entire budget is relevant from the broad issue of credibility and it should be required to be produced.  And particularly so in this case, I submit, having regard to what we've heard to date from Mr. Schultz, who claims that around January of 2005, he was extremely concerned about safety.  

     That claim, in my submission, should be weighed in the context of what is in this corporate budget, presented to the EGD board of directors apparently in mid January 2005.  

     So I submit it is relevant.  It goes to the entire issue of the integrity of the process and I urge you to direct that it be produced.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Are there any other parties who would like to speak in support of Mr. Thompson's submission before we hear from Mr. Cass?  

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, may I just simply indicate that my client, the Consumers Council of Canada supports the position of Mr. Thompson for the reasons he has expressed. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we also support Mr. Thompson and I would like to add one thing, point out that the company's utility filing in exhibit F 3, tab 2, schedule 1 in this case, which deals with 2004 historical results is very close to its actual results, as set forth in exhibit K14.1, which was just filed this morning.  On almost every line there is -- there's differences but not very large.  Except in one area that is of considerable importance and that is O&M.  

     And that, I think, supports Mr. Thompson's contention that this is a pure utility or should be a pure utility and therefore this comparison between the corporate budget and the regulatory budget is a useful one for this Board to carry out.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I have no further comments.  However, I am indicating that CME is in support of the IGUA proposal.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Cass.  

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, before hearing the Board's direction regarding this issue earlier today, I had prepared a small brief of materials.  The purpose was to be a time saver and expedite taking the Board through some the relevant documents. 

     I think in light the Board's direction, I will not refer to all of the documents in the brief, but I will refer to one or two of them so it might still be quicker to find them here than for people to turn them up elsewhere. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass, we will give it an exhibit number. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be exhibit number K 14.3, brief of materials from Enbridge Gas Distribution regarding IGUA interrogatory number 6.  

EXHIBIT NO. K14.3:  brief of materials from Enbridge Gas Distribution regarding IGUA INTERROGATORY 6
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. CASS:  There is nothing new in this exhibit, Madam 

Chair.  Again, I put it together just as a time saver so that people would not have to search through their papers to find different items. 

     At tab 1 of the brief is the question, interrogatory number 6 from IGUA that is at issue now before the Board and the company's response.  

 
Now, I wanted to quickly take the Board to the company's response, because it, in fact, sets out much of the answer to the points that Mr. Thompson has made.


In particular, if the Board could look at page 2 of 5 of Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 6, opposite paragraph lettered C, as the Board will see here, in response to the question as posed by IGUA that, as Mr. Thompson has explained, centred around -- or not only centred, around but really was about the capital and O&M expenses budgets for fiscal 2005.  


The company has explained that the board of directors of the company does not approve a regulatory capital and O&M budget.  What it approves is a corporate budget that is different than the budget for regulatory purposes.  


The answer goes on to indicate that the regulatory budget, in respect of capital and O&M for 2005, was not presented to the board of directors for approval.


Then a little further down in the paragraph, opposite the letter C, you will see the indication that minutes of the meetings are considered confidential and that the confidentiality associated with the minutes is important for effective communication, and then there is a reference to what the company did produce, which is the 2005 business unit budget, cover page, and pages dealing with operating and maintenance expenses and capital expenditures.


So those the Board can find at attachment 2 of this interrogatory response in ‑‑ or at tab 1 of Exhibit K14.3.  So attachment 2, you will find a little bit in.  Attachment 1 seems to have 12 pages, and then when you get past that, you will see attachment 2, which is what was produced from the business unit budget.


As you will see, the cover page of this information for the board of directors was marked "Confidential", and then you will see that the company produced pages 7 and 8.  These were produced because they contained the O&M and capital budgets, from a corporate point of view, that were provided in response to the Board's direction.


Now, you will see that the company actually produced a little more than that so that people can see the context, both before and after the O&M budget and the capital budget.  The remainder of the pages are produced so that there can be no question about what context this information was taken out of when the O&M and capital budgets were provided.


And, again, I emphasize, Madam Chair, that this is not a regulatory budget.  This is a corporate budget.  The company was asked to provide a reconciliation, and that also is at this same interrogatory response.  That can be found at pages 4 and 5 of the interrogatory response itself.  So there is a reconciliation for purposes of both capital and O&M between the 2005 ADR amounts and the 2005 business unit budget.


I wish to emphasize, again, Madam Chair, what this is.  This is, as I understand it, not a portion of an EI document, an Enbridge Inc. document.  This is a confidential business unit budget considered by the Enbridge Gas Distribution board of directors and specifically the excerpts that were relevant to Interrogatory No. 6 on O&M expenses and capital expenses.


Now, I will skip through the other items in the brief, except for item 5, which is the transcript from day 7 of this hearing when questions were already ‑‑ were previously asked by Mr. Shepherd about the corporate budget.  


Again, much like what I've just shown you in the interrogatory response, the company's answer to what Mr. Thompson has said is in this evidence, as well as in the interrogatory response.


So if you are able to turn to tab 5 of Exhibit K14.3, starting at page 69, approximately line 16, you will see where Mr. Shepherd asked about the 2005 corporate budget, and it was explained that portions of the corporate budget that were requested in IGUA's interrogatory had been filed.  That's at lines 23 to 27.


Then the question on the next page, page 70, Mr. Shepherd asked the reason why you can't file the whole corporate budget.  That's at lines 5 to 6.  Mr. Ladanyi explained that would actually be a revenue forecast:  

"We do essentially an earnings forecast we really shouldn't be disclosing to the public.  That would probably be in contravention of securities concerns.”


Mr. Shepherd asked that it be filed on a confidential basis, and then there was some further discussion.  He had indicated he was looking for the whole corporate budget.


Madam Chair, you indicated your understanding of Mr. Ladanyi's response was that all that is missing is a revenue portion.  Mr. Shepherd asked if that was correct, and Mr. Ladanyi said it was correct.  And at that point, Mr. Shepherd withdrew his request for an undertaking.


So that is the background and the reasons that have already been provided to the Board for the production only of the capital and O&M expenses portion of the corporate budget.


With that, I would then like to just encapsulate my submissions into -- I think it is about five different points.


First, in my submission, certainly Enbridge Gas Distribution is a regulated company, and its activities have to be carried on with the understanding that disclosure of information to the regulator will occur when needed.


However, Madam Chair, in my submission, it is the "when needed" part that is important.  In my submission, the board of directors of this company, just like any other company, should be able to proceed on the basis that there will be a full and fair exchange of information and viewpoints in board of director deliberations and discussions and that that will not be subject to scrutiny in some other forum on an automatic basis, as Mr. Thompson now seems to be suggesting.


In my submission, the Board need only think of the deliberations that it must do internally or the deliberations that any company must do to realize that the potential for full scrutiny of everything that is discussed in some other forum is going to be a damper on full and frank discussion and deliberation.  Certainly if it is needed for the regulator, then it is appropriate that disclosure occur.


My submission, though, is that this general proposition that because it's a regulated company, the Board should have everything and be able to make these comparisons, is not conducive to full and frank discussions at the board of director level of Enbridge Gas Distribution.


Now, I did point out that the document was marked confidential.  Of course, confidentiality can be observed in this proceeding.  I am indicating to the Board, though, that in my submission there is a deeper issue than that, which is not just maintaining confidentiality, but allowing the board of directors to know that they can have a full and frank discussion on issues without the expectation that it will be scrutinized and second--guessed in some other forum, unless there is a specific need on a specific issue for that to be done.


That's my point number 1.


Now, the second point, as has already been, I think, discussed by Mr. Ladanyi ‑ and I don't need to spend a lot of time on it ‑ is that when this issue was addressed already through Mr. Shepherd's questions and the Board Chair's questions or discussion of the issue, what was stated was that the missing element was revenues and leading to an earnings forecast.


The revenue issues have been settled in this case.  That was part of the ADR agreement.  I'm not aware of any outstanding revenue issues for this proceeding.

     If Mr. Thompson is right in his notion that there should be some general disclosure of revenue information, the time to do that and have that done was when it was a live issue.  Not after it has become a settled issue.  

Now, I do say, in any event, that beyond that question of it being settled in this case, that in my submission, it's quite wrong to think that -- from the board of directors level of the company, there needs to be this full 

disclosure of information just so the Board can do comparisons and checks without there being a live issue that this is directed to.  

     Now, the third point is the securities law issue that Mr. Ladanyi also touched on when this issue was previously addressed.  I don't pretend to be a securities law expert and I won't spend a lot of time on it.  In my understanding, though, the issue would be one of disclosure of earnings information.  This is, after all, fiscal 2005 earnings information to a subset of the general population.  

     Mr. Shepherd did make the point that confidentiality could be used to address that concern.  However, I suggest to the Board that that is only a partial solution.  Confidentiality would ensure that disclosure to a subset of the general population would not broaden any more widely, because of the confidentiality undertaking, but it would not address the underlying concern which is disclosure to a subset of information that is not generally available.  Again, I won't dwell any more on that, because I am not a securities law expert.  

     Then, my final submission is in relation to the question of whether this is, in any fashion at all, information that is relevant or needed by the Board at this point in the hearing.  

     Mr. Thompson's submissions in that regard, as I took it, were really just broad and general submissions that the Board should do this as opposed to directing the Board to any issue on the issues list that this would be relevant to.  If I heard him correctly and my notes are accurate, he even suggested it was some sort of a broad credibility issue. 

In my submission, Madam Chair, first, for there to be that sort of a credibility issue that would require production of full confidential board of directors' documents, some groundwork would need to be laid for that on cross-examination, that there is a specific area where a witness's issue -- sorry, a witness's credibility is in issue and the particular document would have some bearing on that credibility.  There's been no groundwork laid for it at all.  And I would submit to the Board that it is quite wrong for any sort of credibility allegations to be made about the company's witnesses without a groundwork. 

 And then more broadly, again, Madam Chair, and I think I've said this in making my first point, in my submission, relevance should not be judged on the broad-brush basis that was put forward by Mr. Thompson, that they're a regulated utility and therefore the Board should have information to make comparisons.  

Even if this wasn't confidential board of directors information, in my submission, that would mean that the net of relevance is essentially boundless in a rate case.  That essentially anything in company's possession, information or documents, ought to be given to the Board so the Board can make these sorts of comparisons.  

     In my submission, that can't be right.  And there must be, I submit to the Board, some relevance to an issue on the issue list as opposed to a broad argument that the Board should have the information to make comparisons.  

And in closing, I submit to the Board that that point should only be stronger when what we're talking about is confidential, board of directors' documents pertaining to deliberations that the board of directors believes it is carrying on in a confidential environment.  

     Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, do you wish to reply?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I was wondering if I could just have maybe three minutes to discuss with my supporting colleagues whether they want me to make any submissions on their behalf. 

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Fine. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So five minutes, if possible.  

     MS. NOWINA:  You would like us to break for five minutes or you're just going to whisper? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I can do it on the side here. 

     MS. NOWINA:  If it will only take you five minutes, why don't you do that?  

     MR. WARREN:  Little bit players don't have a lot to say, so we will do it quickly.  

     [The Board confers] 

     [Lawyers confer]  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be quite brief.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON: 
     MR. THOMPSON:  Dealing with Mr. Cass's point about what is missing, revenues only, I just ask you to look at the document, Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 6, it's at Mr. Cass's tab 1, the back.  

     We have the cover sheet and the next page we have is page 7.  And the topics there are item 6 and 7.  So I don't think, in fairness, it takes six pages to deal with revenues.  There are five other topics before we get to page 7, of which revenue is one, I submit.  And I didn't understand Mr. Cass to be saying the document ends at page 8, but he may wish to clarify that.  

     So I suggest that what is missing is not simply revenues.  

     My submissions to you are confined to this document.  I'm not asking, again, that minutes of board of directors meetings or e-mails and that kind of thing be produced.  You ruled on that back in June and we accept your ruling.  But I am asking that the entire corporate budget be produced.  

     I repeat that in my submission, it goes to not only credibility, but integrity of the process.  

     In terms of revenues not being a live issue, my friend is correct, we have settled that.  You have to remember, we asked for production of this document and obtained a ruling on it some time late in June.  At tab 4 of the document, you will see my letter to Ms. Persad asking that it be provided without pages missing.  

     I didn't get even the courtesy of a reply to that letter.  

     The fact that we settled revenues in my submission, does not lead to the conclusion that this document, in its entirety, does not pertain to issues that are live in this case.  It does pertain to the integrity issue, integrity of the process issue, and, I suggest, to credibility.  

     My friend says no groundwork has been laid for credibility.  I suggest it has been laid.  

     Mr. Warren had a considerable exchange with Mr. Schultz about the concerns that Mr. Schultz had with safety and Mr. Schultz's communications to the EI people, as well as, I think, to his own board of directors, most of whom are EI people.  

     There was also some discussion involving Mr. Ladanyi, where he talked about the need to spend money to fulfil the public interest and that kind of thing.  If that were the case, we would expect something to appear about that in this document dated January 19th, 2005.  

     So I submit it is relevant.  It's relevant to these issues.  You have, if you wish, the right to ask to see the document in its entirety before you rule on relevance.  You have that right under the Rules and, if you have any doubt about its relevance, I encourage you to exercise that right.


We're not opening the floodgates with respect to board of director communications.  We're dealing with an official budget document that should, in the context of Enbridge Gas Distribution's Inc.'s role as a pure utility, be compatible with the Board-approved revenue requirement and its components upon which rates were set for 2005.


Unless you have any questions, those are my reply submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


[The Board confers]


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Thompson, do you have any response to Mr. Cass's comments regarding securities law and the restrictions there?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, I would just be repeating what I said in argument in‑chief where I referred to the Board's ruling in the 2001‑0032 case, where the Panel said:   

"Parties dealing with regulated utilities, such as ECG, should be aware that regulated utilities may have an obligation to disclose information to its regulator that an unregulated business could retain in confidence."


That was said in the context of the securities issue.  I believe you will find that if you review this decision, which is at tab 1 of the IGUA brief.


So it is not an impediment to production, but it may well be a good reason for receiving it in confidence, and we don't have any objection to that process being followed.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cass, one of the ‑‑ something that has been put forward as a general proposition is the idea that the utility should be unrestrained with respect to its spending, so long as the amounts that are sought to be recovered in rates are -‑ that that side of it is looked after, and that the utility, after that point can spend really whatever it wants, whether by way of corporate allocation or by any other means.


Is that the position of the company?


MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Sommerville, I could give you my view of the matter, which is, I think, in line with evidence I've heard from the witnesses.  My view of the matter is that what this Board does is it approves what is just and reasonable to be included in rates; that what actually happens in the test year is almost, by definition, going to be different than the forecasts and budgets that the Board looks at on a prospective basis.  


And in that context, then, in my submission, the management of the company has to adjust to the events that are actually happening in the test year as opposed to what was put in front of the Board and considered by the Board on a prospective basis.


So, yes, in that context, it's hard for me to imagine how amounts that are approved to go into rates can possibly become a straightjacket for the company's actual spending in a test year.  Personally, I can't conceive of how it would work, but ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess the difference is the idea of a multiple projection, that the projection into the test year with respect to revenues and spending included in, I guess, what we'll call the regulatory budget, that's one thing.


But if there is also a series of projections and forecasts that are disconnected from that regulatory ‑- from those regulatory projections, that is a different thing than having to react to exigencies during the course of the year.


MR. CASS:  Yes, I understand.  And, Mr. Sommerville, I would have thought that that is what has been produced.  If there is an issue about a disconnect on a spending basis between the company's regulatory forecasts and its corporate budgeting, that is what the Board can look at in the O&M and capital portions of that business unit budget that had been produced.


I don't see that there is any such disconnect, other than to the extent that the witnesses have already explained on the witness stand what's in that corporate budget, but it is there for the Board to see.


I don't see that that makes a case for the entirety of this document, which clearly, on the record in this case, we don't even know what's in it.  So I don't see how that makes a case for the relevance of parts of a document that go beyond capital and O&M expenses, but as far as the record in this case is concerned, there is no indication of where it goes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


[The Board confers]


MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, just before you speak, I was wondering if I might add my two cents on the question that Mr. Sommerville asked Mr. Cass?  This would be helpful.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you need any ‑‑ might I respond just ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  On this point about disconnect, Mr. Sommerville, I would suggest that clearly there is a disconnect.  If you look at what has been produced, they don't line up with the Board's approved budget at all.  It is not even mentioned in the document that's been produced.  And what I'm suggesting is the Board should know the full measure of the disconnect, and to do that you need the whole document.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  The Board panel would like to take the night to consider this and give you a decision tomorrow, so -- and given that it is 35 minutes before 4 o'clock, I think we will adjourn as soon as we've determined what tomorrow's schedule will be and what panel we're hearing.


Mr. Cass, are you the keeper of the schedule?


MR. CASS:  I think the keeper of the schedule is to my left, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Could he let you know or let us know what the schedule is?


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I think Mr. Lanni explained previously that there is a witness on the deferral and variance accounts witness panel who has travelled from Boston to be here and is here today.  In light of that, the company's plan is that that panel would go on first thing tomorrow and, we would hope, be dealt with in its entirety tomorrow.


If, in fact, there is more than enough time tomorrow to deal with that panel, the company also has the witnesses who will address O&M expenses for legal and regulatory available to follow.  I don't know whether that will happen tomorrow or not, but the panel is ready to follow the deferral and variance accounts panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, if it happens, it would be bucking the trend, won't it?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Does that meet with everyone's ‑‑ that meets everybody's schedule?  I think, Mr. Shepherd, you had a concern.  Does that work for you?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm fine with that.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will adjourn, then, until 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.  

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:30 p.m.

PAGE  

